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The directors present their report, together with the financial statements, on the consolidated entity (referred to 

hereafter as the ‘consolidated entity’) consisting of Bubalus Resources Limited (referred to hereafter as the 

‘Company’ or ‘parent entity’) and the entities it controlled at the end of, or during, the year ended 30 June 

2025. 

 

Directors 

 

The following persons were directors of Bubalus Resources Limited during the whole of the financial year and up 

to the date of this report, unless otherwise stated: 

 

NAME OF PERSON POSITION 

Mr Alec Pismiris Executive Chairman  

Mr William Oliver Non-Executive Director  

Mr Brendan Borg Managing Director (appointed 3 December 2024) 

Mr Scott Deakin Non-Executive Director (resigned 3 December 2024) 

 

Principal Activities 

 

During the financial year, the principal activities of the consolidated entity consisted of mineral exploration in 

the Northern Territory, Victoria and Western Australia. 

 

Dividends 

 

No dividends were paid or declared during the financial year. No dividend has been recommended. 

 

Review of Operations 

 

The loss for the consolidated entity after providing for income tax was $1,666,732 (2024: $391,837). 

 

Exploration 

 

During the financial year, the following activities were undertaken by the consolidated entity. 

 

Victorian Gold Projects 

 

During the financial year, the Company announced the proposed acquisition of 100% of a portfolio of granted 

exploration licences located in the heart of the Victorian goldfields, under two separate option agreements.  

 

The key licences optioned under these agreements are shown in Figure 1.  

 

The main focus of activities during the financial year was on the Crosbie licence (EL007144), located between 

the operating Fosterville and Costerfield Mines. 

 

A maiden diamond drilling program was completed at the Crosbie South Prospect, with 5 holes completed for 

approximately 700 metres (Figure 2). The program was completed on schedule and without incident.  Results 

were reported post the end of the financial year and returned gold mineralisation (up to 0.2 m @ 50 g/t Au) in 

every hole, with associated antimony, bismuth, silver, molybdenum and tungsten, confirming an intrusion related 

gold system (IRGS) target.  Mineralisation is open at depth and along strike. 

 

Additional activities are planned for the Crosbie South Project during the current financial year, and will 

include: 

• Further analysis of currently unassayed core from this drilling, on sections of core adjacent to mineralised 

zones, that may have been initially overlooked. 

• Review, and potential remodelling, of the IP geophysical survey data, in the context of the drilling results. 

• Undertaking specialist geochemical modelling of the drilling results, to assist in vectoring to potentially 

thicker and/or higher grades of mineralisation within the identified system. 

These activities may lead to additional drilling as part of the planned program at the adjacent Crosbie North 

Fosterville-type targets, expected in late Q3, 2025. 
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Figure 1: Location of key licences optioned by Bubalus. 

 

  

 
Figure 2: Drilling at Crosbie South. 
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An extensive soil sampling program was conducted across the Crosbie North Prospect in February 2025, 

consisting of 380 samples, to augment existing rock chip data (up to 12.1 g/t gold and 2.02% antimony) and 

assist in firming up targets for drilling.  

 

This data shows significant anomalism for antimony, gold, arsenic and silver: 

• Gold values up to 34 ppb, 13 times the average across the data set 

• Antimony values up to 158 ppm, 30 times the average across the data set 

• Arsenic values up to 249 ppm, 19 times the average across the data set 

• Silver values up to 0.635 ppm, 9 times the average across the data set 

A new Induced Polarisation (IP) was completed during the financial year and comprised 5 new lines, for a total 

of approximately 11.8 line km, aimed at augmenting the existing single line of IP previously completed over the 

prospect area. Results of this survey were released post the end of the financial year and have generated 

significant targets for drill testing, which is scheduled for late Q3, 2025. 

 

The Company undertook preparation for its maiden drilling program at the Avon Plains Gold Project (Figure 3), 

with landholder liaison being undertaken ahead of field work commencement.  A drilling program will be 

implemented at the conclusion of the harvesting season, expected to be in Q4, 2025.  The initial area for drilling 

will focus on the historically mined high grade gold reef, where no effective drilling has ever been undertaken 

and a historic shaft remains. 

 
Figure 3: Avon Plains Infrastructure and nearby mines. 
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The Murrindindi Gold Project (EL007412) covers an area of 354 km2 within the Melbourne Zone of the Lachlan 

Orogen. Murrindindi is located approximately 20 km east of Southern Cross Gold’s Sunday Creek and appears 

to overlie a similar gravity feature to that associated with the high-level intrusion adjacent to Sunday Creek. 

(Figure 1) 

 

High grade samples, up to 131 g/t gold, have been collected from two prospects: Higginbotham, where 

widespread sandstone alteration/silicification, quartz veining (laminated and cross-cutting) and brecciation 

were noted, and Tin Creek, where mapped metasediments are believed to be related to intrusions based on 

field inspection and previously reported identified tin-molybdenum-tungsten occurrences may represent the 

alteration pattern of an IRGS. 

A new geochemical sampling program commenced at the Murrindindi Gold Project during the financial year, 

with the initial focus on the Tin Creek Prospect in the southeast of the licence area, with the aim being to 

generate targets for drill testing. 

 

A review of data from the other licences including Wilson’s Hill and Lockwood (Figure 1) commenced during 

the financial year, with the results of the Wilson’s Hill review released after the end of the financial year.  Further 

work is planned on these projects during the current financial year. 

 

Nolans East Project 

The Nolans East Project is located 15km south east of the Nolans Bore deposit owned by Arafura Resources 

Limited (Arafura) (Figure 4). A Mineral Resource of 56 million tonnes at an average grade of 2.6% total rare earth 

oxides (TREO) and 11% phosphate (P2O5) has been defined by Arafura at Nolans Bore1. According to Arafura, 

neodymium-praesidium oxides (Nd2O3+Pr6O11, NdPr) make up 26% of the TREO content at Nolans Bore. Nolans 

Bore is a complex stockwork vein-style deposit which was discovered by mapping and sampling of these veins 

at surface.  

 

At Nolans East, the project area is over 90% covered with shallow sand cover with limited outcrop2. Accordingly, 

the Company’s first work program was to complete a surface sampling across the project area aimed at 

detecting REE anomalism and specifically following up historical NTGS rockchip sampling2 (Figure 5). Results from 

this sampling included 267 samples which returned > 500ppm TREO and a peak value of 2,053ppm TREO. 

Importantly the NdPr content of the samples averages 22% of the TREO content, a similar content to that 

reported at Nolans Bore (26%1). 

 

Up to $840 million in Commonwealth government funding has been committed for the construction of the 

Nolans Bore mine and refinery development.  A $200 million investment commitment was received during 

January 2025 from the National Reconstruction Fund Corporation (NRFC). 

 

During the financial year, the Environmental (Mining) Licence for drilling at Nolans East was approved by the 

Northern Territory Department of Lands, Planning and Environment. 

 

The final approval required before drilling can commence is an updated Land Access Agreement (LAA), 

required due to a change of pastoral station ownership.  This agreement was finalised in principle during the 

current financial year pending execution, which will then allow drill testing of compelling targets outlined through 

the previous work by Bubalus (Figure 5).  Drilling contractors have been selected and remain on standby 

pending an executed LAA.  

 
 

                                                      
1 https://www.arultd.com/projects/nolans.html  Also ARU.ASX Announcement 7 June 2017 (Detailed Resource Assessment 

Completed) 
2 Refer Independent Geologists Report, ASX Announcement 11 October 2022.  
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Figure 4: Soil Sampling at the Nolans East Project over magnetics (TMI – NTGS data). 

 

 
Figure 5: Results from surface sampling at Nolans East Project. 
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Yinnietharra Project 

 

The Yinnietharra Project is located in the Gascoyne Region of Western Australia, with the boundary of E09/2724 

lying only 2km east of the Malinda Prospect (Figure 6) owned by Delta Lithium Limited (ASX: DLI) (Delta).  

Drilling at Malinda by Delta has identified spodumene-hosted lithium mineralisation over a distance of 1.6 km 

and to a depth of 350m. Mineralisation is hosted in 6 pegmatite dykes which dip to the south, towards granites 

of the Thirty Three Supersuite, and is open to the east, in the direction of E09/2724. 

 

Previous exploration in the area of the Yinnietharra Project had been limited to cursory field reconnaissance 

undertaken over the ground now covered by the project with no systematic lithium-focused exploration 

completed.   Since the acquisition, the Company has completed a systematic, project wide soil sampling 

program which has defined areas of anomalism for drill testing (Figure 7). 

 

During the financial year, the Company executed a Heritage Agreement with the Wajarri Yamaji Aboriginal 

Corporation (WYAC) covering exploration at the Yinnietharra Project, and conducted an ethnographic and 

archaeological work area clearance survey, in partnership with the Burringurah Wajarri Custodians and Three 

Sisters Heritage Surveys.  This survey, and the clearance provided, now allow the planned drilling program to 

commence at the election of the Company. 

 

 
Figure 6: Location of Yinnietharra Project relative to other holdings 

and lithium prospects in the Gascoyne Region. 
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Figure 7: Plan showing gridded lithium-in-soils results at Yinnietharra.  

 

 

Amadeus Project 

 

The Amadeus Project hosts numerous occurrences of outcropping manganese mineralisation. While these have 

been extensively mapped and sampled by previous explorers only the Tardis project has been tested by drilling. 

The Amadeus Project also hosts several targets prospective for base metal mineralisation, specifically zinc, 

copper and cobalt, which are the subject of ongoing work. 

 

A rationalisation of the tenure was undertaken during the financial year, to focus on key areas of prospectivity 

identified during desktop work. 

 

Coomarie Project 

 

The Coomarie Project is located approximately ~600km from Alice Springs, near the border with Western 

Australia and Northern Territory.  The Coomarie Project overlies a prominent domal feature in the Tanami Region. 

REE mineralisation within the Tanami Region is hosted at unconformities between older metamorphic rocks 

associated with granitic intrusions and younger sediments (for example Browns Ridge (ASX:NTU)3 and Watts 

Ridge-Castella (ASX:PVW)4). Mineralisation is often controlled by faults which cross cut the unconformity and 

are interpreted to have controlled fluid flow.  

 

Only limited desktop exploration was undertaken on the project during the financial year. 

 

Due to the location and logistics of exploration at Coomarie, as well as the current focus on exploration at the 

newly optioned Victorian Gold Projects, Yinnietharra and Nolans East, the Board of Bubalus has determined it 

preferable to carry out a larger field program across the broader Coomarie project once remaining project 

exploration licences are granted. 

  

                                                      
3 NTU.ASX Announcement 9 June 2022 (Corporate Presentation)  
4 PVW.ASX Announcement 1 November 2022 (Presentation – Australian Rare Earth Conference) 
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Pargee Project 

 

The Pargee Project is located 70km west of the Coomarie Project along the Tanami Road and then 50km north 

of the Tanami Road. The Project is located towards the western end of the Granites – Tanami Inlier, which is a 

highly deformed and metamorphosed, Palaeoproterozoic block of rocks approximately 250km long and 100km 

wide.  

Most of the area of the Pargee Project is interpreted to be underlain by lithologies of the Killi to the east and 

Lower Stubbins Formation to the west as well as the Upper Stubbins Formation and a folded dolerite unit in the 

centre.  

No substantive exploration was carried out on the Pargee Project during the financial year. 

 

 

Competent Persons Statement 

 

Information in this report relating to Exploration Results is based on information compiled, reviewed and assessed 

by Mr. Brendan Borg, who is a Member of the Australasian Institute of Mining and Metallurgy and the Australian 

Institute of Geoscientists. Mr. Borg is a Director of Bubalus Resources Limited and has sufficient experience which 

is relevant to the style of mineralisation and type of deposit under consideration and to the activity which he is 

undertaking to qualify as a Competent Person as defined by the 2012 Edition of the Australasian Code for 

reporting of Exploration Results, Mineral Resources and Ore Reserves (JORC Code). Mr. Borg consents to the 

inclusion of the information in the form and context in which it appears. 

 

The Company confirms that it is not aware of any new information or data that materially affects the information 

included in the original market announcement. The Company confirms that the form and context in which the 

Competent Person’s findings are presented have not been materially modified from the original market 

announcement.  
 
 

Significant Changes in the State of Affairs 

 

There were no significant changes in the state of affairs of the consolidated entity during the financial year, 

other than the matters described above. 

 

 

Matters Subsequent to the End of the Financial Year 

 

No matters or circumstances have arisen since 30 June 2025 to the date of this report that have significantly 

affected, or may significantly affect the consolidated entity's operations, the results of those operations, or the 

consolidated entity's state of affairs in future financial years. 

 

 

Likely Developments and Expected Results of Operations 

 

Information on likely developments in the operations of the consolidated entity and the expected results of 

operations are disclosed in the Review of Operations above. 

 

 

Material Business Risks 

 

The consolidated entity’s exploration and evaluation operations will be subject to the normal risks of mineral 

exploration. The material business risks that may affect the consolidated entity are summarised below. 

 

Future capital raisings 

 

The consolidated entity’s ongoing activities may require substantial further financing in the future. The 

consolidated entity will require additional funding to continue its exploration and evaluation operations on its 

projects with the aim to identify economically mineable reserves and resources.  Any additional equity financing 

may be dilutive to shareholders, may be undertaken at lower prices than the current market price and debt 

financing, if available, may involve restrictive covenants which limit the consolidated entity’s operations and 

business strategy.  
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Although the directors believe that additional capital can be obtained, no assurances can be made that 

appropriate capital or funding, if and when needed, will be available on terms favourable to the consolidated 

entity or at all. If the consolidated entity is unable to obtain additional financing as needed, it may be required 

to reduce, delay or suspend its operations and this could have a material adverse effect on the consolidated 

entity’s activities and could affect the consolidated entity’s ability to continue as a going concern. 

 

Exploration risk 

 

The success of the consolidated entity depends on the delineation of economically mineable reserves and 

resources, access to required development capital, movement in the price of commodities, securing and 

maintaining title to the consolidated entity’s exploration and mining tenements and obtaining all consents and 

approvals necessary for the conduct of its exploration activities.  

 

Exploration on the consolidated entity’s existing tenements may be unsuccessful, resulting in a reduction in the 

value of those tenements, diminution in the cash reserves of the consolidated entity and possible relinquishment 

of the tenements. The exploration costs of the consolidated entity are based on certain assumptions with respect 

to the method and timing of exploration. By their nature, these estimates and assumptions are subject to 

significant uncertainties and, accordingly, the actual costs may materially differ from these estimates and 

assumptions.  

 

Accordingly, no assurance can be given that the cost estimates and the underlying assumptions will be realised 

in practice, which may materially and adversely affect the consolidated entity’s viability. If the level of operating 

expenditure required is higher than expected, the financial position of the consolidated entity may be adversely 

affected.  

 

Feasibility and development risks 

It may not always be possible for the consolidated entity to exploit successful discoveries which may be made 

in areas in which the consolidated entity has an interest. Such exploitation would involve obtaining the necessary 

licences or clearances from relevant authorities that may require conditions to be satisfied and/or the exercise 

of discretions by such authorities. It may or may not be possible for such conditions to be satisfied.  

 

Regulatory risk 

 

The consolidated entity’s operations are subject to various Commonwealth, State and Territory and local laws 

and plans, including those relating to mining, prospecting, development permit and licence requirements, 

industrial relations, environment, land use, royalties, water, native title and cultural heritage, mine safety and 

occupational health. Approvals, licences and permits required to comply with such rules are subject to the 

discretion of the applicable government officials.  

 

No assurance can be given that the consolidated entity will be successful in maintaining such authorisations in 

full force and effect without modification or revocation. To the extent such approvals are required and not 

retained or obtained in a timely manner or at all, the consolidated entity may be limited or prohibited from 

continuing or proceeding with exploration. The consolidated entity’s business and results of operations could be 

adversely affected if applications lodged for exploration licences are not granted. Mining and exploration 

tenements are subject to periodic renewal. The renewal of the term of a granted tenement is also subject to 

the discretion of the relevant Minister. Renewal conditions may include increased expenditure and work 

commitments or compulsory relinquishment of areas of the tenements comprising the consolidated entity’s 

projects. The imposition of new conditions or the inability to meet those conditions may adversely affect the 

operations, financial position and/or performance of the consolidated entity. 

 

Mineral resource estimate risk 

 

Mineral resource estimates are expressions of judgement based on knowledge, experience and industry 

practice. These estimates were appropriate when made but may change significantly when new information 

becomes available. There are risks associated with such estimates. Mineral resource estimates are necessarily 

imprecise and depend to some extent on interpretations, which may ultimately prove to be inaccurate and 

require adjustment. Adjustments to resource estimates could affect the consolidated entity’s future plans and 

ultimately its financial performance and value. Gold, lithium, manganese and rare earth metal price 

fluctuations, as well as increased production costs or reduced throughput and/or recovery rates, may render 

resources containing relatively lower grades uneconomic and may materially affect resource estimations. 
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Environmental risk  

 

The operations and activities of the consolidated entity are subject to the environmental laws and regulations 

of Australia. As with most exploration projects and mining operations, the consolidated entity’s operations and 

activities are expected to have an impact on the environment, particularly if advanced exploration or mine 

development proceeds. The consolidated entity attempts to conduct its operations and activities to the highest 

standard of environmental obligation, including compliance with all environmental laws and regulations.  

 

The consolidated entity is unable to predict the effect of additional environmental laws and regulations which 

may be adopted in the future, including whether any such laws or regulations would materially increase the 

consolidated entity’s cost of doing business or affect its operations in any area. However, there can be no 

assurances that new environmental laws, regulations or stricter enforcement policies, once implemented, will 

not oblige the consolidated entity to incur significant expenses and undertake significant investments which 

could have a material adverse effect on the consolidated entity’s business, financial condition and 

performance.  

 

Availability of equipment and contractors  

 

There is a risk that the consolidated entity may not be able to source all the equipment and contractors required 

to fulfill its proposed activities. There is also a risk that hired contractors may underperform or that equipment 

may malfunction, either of which may affect the progress of the consolidated entity’s activities. 

 

Native title and Aboriginal Heritage 

 

In relation to tenements which the consolidated entity has an interest in or may be acquired by the consolidated 

entity in the future, there may be areas over which legitimate common law native title rights of Aboriginal 

Australians exist. This may preclude or delay granting of exploration and mining tenements or restrict the ability 

of the consolidated entity to explore, develop and/or commercialise its tenements and adversely impact on its 

operations. Considerable expenses may be incurred in negotiating and resolving issues, including any 

compensation agreements reached in settling with native title holders or claimants with rights over any of the 

tenements held or acquired by the consolidated entity in the future. 

 

In addition, determined native title holders may seek compensation under the Native Title Act 1993 (Cth) for the 

impacts of acts affecting native title rights and interests. 

 

Further to the above, there are a number of registered and recorded sacred sites (sites that are sacred to 

Aboriginals or are otherwise of significance according to Aboriginal tradition) in the vicinity of the tenements 

located in the Northern Territory. The existence of the sacred sites (and restricted work areas) within the areas of 

the tenements may lead to restrictions on the areas that the consolidated entity will be able to explore and 

mine or delays in the commencement of exploration or mining activities. 

 

The directors will closely monitor the potential effect of native title claims or Aboriginal heritage matters involving 

tenements in which the consolidated entity has or may have an interest. 
 

Economic and market risk 

 

General economic conditions such as, laws relating to taxation, new legislation, trade barriers, movement in 

interest and inflation rates, national and international political circumstances, natural disasters, quarantine 

restrictions, epidemics and pandemics, may have an adverse effect on the consolidated entity’s operations 

and financial performance, including its exploration activities and the ability to fund those activities. 

 

Environmental Regulation 

 

The consolidated entity is subject to and is compliant with all aspects of environmental regulation of its 

exploration and mining activities. The directors are not aware of any environmental law that is not being 

complied with. 
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Information on Directors 

 

Alec Pismiris  B.Comm, MAICD, FGIA, FCIS 

Executive Chairman 

Mr Pismiris has over 30 years of experience in the securities, finance and mining industries. Since 1990, Mr Pismiris 

has served as a director and/or company secretary for various ASX listed companies as well as a number of 

unlisted public and private companies. Mr Pismiris completed a Bachelor of Commerce degree at the University 

of Western Australia, is a member of the Australian Institute of Company directors and a fellow of The 

Governance Institute of Australia. Mr Pismiris has participated numerous times in the processes by which boards 

have assessed the acquisition and financing of a diverse range of assets and has participated in and become 

familiar with the range of evaluation criteria used and the due diligence processes commonly adopted in the 

commercial assessment of corporate opportunities. 

Appointed: 1 November 2021 

Other listed board memberships: Sunshine Metals Limited (ASX:SHN) (appointed 24 

March 2015) 

Previous listed board memberships in the last 3 years: Pacton Gold Inc (TSX-V) (appointed 14 November 

2017 - resigned 19 June 2023) 

Agrimin Limited (ASX:AMN) (appointed 3 October 

2013 – retired 29 November 2024) 

Gumtree Australia Markets Limited (ASX: GUM) 

(appointed 7 April 2016 – resigned 17 October 2024) 

Interest in shares at the date of this report: 866,295 fully paid ordinary shares 

Interest in options at the date of this report: 1,136,750 unlisted options exercisable $0.40, expiring 

11 October 2026 

Interest in performance rights at the date of this report: 750,000 performance rights, expiring 30 May 2028 

 

Brendan Borg  M.Sc., B.Sc, M.Aus.I.M.M 

Managing Director 

Mr Borg is a consultant geologist who has specialised in the “battery materials” sector including lithium, graphite 

and cobalt mineralisation, participating in numerous successful projects, in an investment and/or operational 

capacity. Mr Board has more than 20 years’ experience gained working in management, operational and 

project development roles in the exploration and mining industries, with companies including Rio Tinto Iron Ore, 

Magnis Resources Limited, IronClad Mining Limited, Lithex Resources Limited and Sibelco Australia Limited. 

Brendan operates a geological consulting business Borg Geoscience Pty Ltd. 

Appointed: 3 December 2024 

Other listed board memberships: Kuniko Limited (ASX: KNI) (appointed 12 May 2021) 

Leo Lithium Limited (ASX:LLL) (appointed 13 October 

2021) 

Chariot Corporation Limited (ASX: CC9) (appointed 

15 August 2025) 

Previous listed board memberships in the last 3 years: Sarytogan Graphite Limited (ASX: SGA) (appointed 

29 November 2021 - resigned 30 November 2024) 

Interest in shares at the date of this report: 2,000,000 fully paid ordinary shares 

Interest in options at the date of this report: Nil 

Interest in performance rights at the date of this report: 3,000,000 performance rights, expiring 30 May 2028 
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William Oliver  BSc. (Hons), GDipAppFin, MAIG, MAusIMM 

Non-Executive Director 

Mr Oliver is a geologist with over 20 years of experience in the international resources industry working for both 

major and junior companies. Mr Oliver has an enviable track record in project evaluation and has been involved 

with a number of transactions involving assets across a range of commodities. His geological experience ranges 

across all aspects of exploration, the design, evaluation and implementation of resource definition programmes 

as well as resource modelling and inputs into all levels of mining and feasibility studies. In addition, Mr Oliver has 

served as director of a number of ASX listed companies and is familiar with the requirements of the ASX Listing 

Rules and the JORC Code.  

Mr Oliver is a member of the Australasian Institute of Mining and Metallurgists and the Australian Institute of 

Geoscientists and holds an honours degree in Geology from the University of Western Australia as well as a post-

graduate diploma in finance and investment from FINSIA. 

Appointed: 1 November 2021 

Other listed board memberships: FMR Resources Limited (ASX: FMR) (appointed 21 

June 2024) 

Previous listed board memberships in the last 3 years: None 

Interest in shares at the date of this report: 340,909 fully paid ordinary shares 

Interest in options at the date of this report: 525,000 unlisted options exercisable at $0.40, expiring 

11 October 2026 

Interest in performance rights at the date of this report 750,000 performance rights, expiring 30 May 2028 

 

Company Secretary 

Melanie Ross  CA, AGIA ACG 

Company Secretary 

 

Ms Ross is an accounting and corporate governance professional with over 18 years’ experience in financial 

accounting and analysis, audit, business and corporate advisory services in public practice, commerce and 

state government. Ms Ross is currently a director of a corporate advisory company based in Perth that provides 

corporate and other advisory services to public listed companies.  

 

Ms Anthea Acomb                CA, AGIA ACG 

Company Secretary (appointed 23 October 2024) 

Ms Acomb is a Chartered Accountant with over 7 years’ experience in the areas of accounting, external audit 

and corporate governance. Ms Acomb has a Bachelor of Commerce and Graduate Diploma in Applied 

Corporate Governance & Risk Management. 

 

 

Meetings of Directors 

 

The number of meetings of the consolidated entity’s Board of directors (“the Board”) held during the financial 

year ended 30 June 2025, and the number of meetings attended by each director were: 

 

 Directors’ Meeting 

Director Eligible Attended 

Alec Pismiris 6 6 

William Oliver 6 6 

Brendan Borg 4 4 

Scott Deakin 2 2 

 

There were six directors meetings held during the financial year, however many board matters were dealt with 

via circular resolutions. The consolidated entity does not have a formally constituted audit committee or 

remuneration committee as the board considers that the consolidated entity’s size and type of operation do 

not warrant such committees. 

  

F
or

 p
er

so
na

l u
se

 o
nl

y



BUBALUS RESOURCES LIMITED  

DIRECTORS’ REPORT  

30 JUNE 2025   
 

16 

 

REMUNERATION REPORT (AUDITED) 

 

The remuneration report details the key management personnel remuneration arrangements for the 

consolidated entity, in accordance with the requirements of the Corporations Act 2001 and its Regulations. 

 

Key management personnel are those persons having authority and responsibility for planning, directing and 

controlling the activities of the entity, directly or indirectly, including all directors. 

The remuneration report is set out under the following main headings: 

 

• Principles used to determine the nature and amount of remuneration 

• Key management personnel 

• Services agreements 

• Detail of remuneration 

• Share-based compensation 

• Additional disclosures relating to key management personnel 

• Additional information 

 

Principles Used to Determine the Nature and Amount of Remuneration 

 

The objective of the consolidated entity’s executive reward framework is to ensure reward for performance is 

competitive and appropriate for the results delivered. The Board ensures that executive reward satisfies the 

following key criteria for good reward governance practises:  

 
• competitiveness and reasonableness; 

• acceptability to shareholders; and 

• transparency. 

 

The Board, acting in its capacity as the remuneration committee, is responsible for determining and reviewing 

remuneration arrangements for its directors and executives. The performance of the consolidated entity 

depends on the quality of its directors and executives. The remuneration philosophy is to attract, motivate and 

retain high performance and high quality personnel.  

In making its determinations, the Board ensures that the remuneration and employment policies and practices 

of the consolidated entity:  

 
• motivate Executive directors and officers to pursue the long-term growth and success of the 

consolidated entity; 

• demonstrate a clear relationship between performance and remuneration; and 

• involve an appropriate balance between fixed and incentive remuneration, reflecting the short and 

long-term performance objectives to the consolidated entity circumstances and goals. 

 
In accordance with best practice corporate governance, the structure of non-executive director and executive 

director remuneration is separate. 

Non-executive directors' remuneration 

The consolidated entity's policy is to remunerate Non-executive directors at a fixed fee for time, commitment 

and responsibilities. Remuneration for Non-executive directors is not linked to individual performance. From time 

to time, the consolidated entity may grant options to Non-executive directors.  

The grant of options is designed to recognise and reward efforts and provide Non-executive directors with 

additional incentive to continue those efforts for the benefit of the consolidated entity.  

ASX listing rules require the maximum aggregate amount of fees (including superannuation payments) that can 

be paid to non-executive directors be subject to approval by shareholders at a General Meeting. The current 

base remuneration pool of $300,000 for non-executive directors was set and reported in the Prospectus dated 

24 August 2022. All director fees are periodically recommended for approval by shareholders. 

Executive remuneration 

Executive pay and reward consists of a base salary and performance incentives. Long term performance 

incentives may include options granted at the discretion of the Board and subject to obtaining the relevant 

approvals. The grant of options is designed to recognise and reward efforts and provide additional incentive 

and may be subject to the successful completion of performance hurdles. 
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Performance based remuneration 

The consolidated entity intends to adopt an employee incentive option plan (‘ESOP or ‘Option Plan’) to provide 

ongoing incentives to directors, Executives and Employees of the consolidated entity. The objective of the ESOP 

is to provide the consolidated entity with a remuneration mechanism, through the issue of securities in the capital 

of the consolidated entity, to motivate and reward the performance of the directors and employees in 

achieving specified performance milestones within a specified performance period.  

 

The Board will ensure that the performance milestones attached to the securities issued pursuant to the ESOP 

are aligned with the successful growth of the consolidated entity’s business activities. 

 

The directors and employees of the consolidated entity have been, and will continue to be, instrumental in the 

growth of the consolidated entity.  

 
The directors consider that the ESOP is an appropriate method to: 

 
a) assist in the reward, retention and motivation of directors and employees; 

b) link the reward of directors and employees to shareholder value creation; and 

c) align the interests of directors and employees with shareholders of the consolidated entity by providing 

an opportunity to directors and employees to receive an equity interest in the consolidated entity in the 

form of securities. 

 

Performance based incentives from time to time may also be offered to directors and employees outside of 

the ESOP, to fulfil the same objectives the ESOP as summarised above. 

 
Consolidated entity performance, shareholder wealth and directors' and executives' remuneration 

The remuneration policy has been tailored to increase the positive relationship between shareholders' 

investment objectives and directors and executives' performance. Following listing, this will be facilitated 

through the employee incentive option plan to encourage the alignment of personal and shareholder interests.  

  

Key Management Personnel 

The key management personnel of the consolidated entity during the year ended 30 June 2025, consisted of 

the following directors and executives: 

 

Director Position 

Alec Pismiris Executive Chairman 

Brendan Borg Managing Director (appointed 3 December 2024) 

William Oliver Non-Executive Director 

Scott Deakin Non-Executive Director (resigned 3 December 2024) 

 

The details of the key management personnel’s remuneration have been set out in the following tables. 

 

Remuneration is based on the following components approved by the Board: 

• base pay; 

• long-term performance incentives; and 

• other remuneration such as superannuation and long service leave. 

 

Service Agreements 

Each member of the consolidated entity’s key management personnel are employed on open-ended 

employment contracts between the individual and the consolidated entity. 

 

The Managing Director has entered into a consultancy agreement with the consolidated entity. 

 

Non-Executive Directors have entered into a service agreement with the consolidated entity in the form of a 

letter of appointment. 
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The below is as at the date of this financial report: 

Table 1: Contract terms for Key Management Personnel 
 

Name Title 

Term of 

Agreement 

Base Salary 

(incl. super 

$p.a.) 

Termination 

Benefit 

Alec Pismiris Executive Chairman  No fixed term 72,000 n/a 

Brendan Borg Managing Director No fixed term 250,000 n/a 

William Oliver Non-Executive Director No fixed term 36,000 n/a 

 

Details of Remuneration 

Table 2: Remuneration for the financial year ended 30 June 2025 
 

 Short Term  
Post-

Employment 
 Long Term   

2025 

Salary & 

Fees 

Annual 

Leave 
 

Super-

annuation 
 

Long 

service 

leave 

Share 

Based 

Payments 

– 

Performan

ce Rights6 

Total 
Performance 

Related 

 $ $  $  $ $ $ % 

Alec Pismiris1 72,000 -  -  - 60,550 132,550 45.68 

William Oliver2 36,000 -  -  - 60,550 96,550 62.71 

Brendan Borg3,4 123,618 -  -  - 242,200 365,818 66.21 

Scott Deakin5 13,713 -  1,577  - - 15,290 - 

 245,331 -  1,577  - 363,300 610,208 59.54 
 

1 Payable to Lexicon Services Pty Ltd, a company which Mr Pismiris is a director and shareholder. 
2 Payable to Billandbry Consulting Pty Ltd, a company which Mr Oliver is a director and shareholder. 
3 Payable to Borg Geoscience Pty Ltd, a company which Mr Borg is a director and shareholder. 
4 Mr Borg was appointed as a Non-executive director and transitioned into the role of Managing Director effective 22 January 

2025. Mr Borg’s Non-executive director fee was $36,000 per annum inclusive of superannuation for the period 3 December 

2024 to 21 January 2025. Mr Borg’s Managing director fee was $250,000 per annum inclusive of superannuation from 22 

January 2025. 
5 Mr Deakin resigned as Non-executive director effective 3 December 2024. 
6 During the year, the company issued 4,500,000 performance rights expiring 30 May 2028 to the Directors as part of their 

remuneration package as an equity-based incentive. The performance rights are subject to market based performance 

conditions over a vesting period of three years. There were no service conditions attached to these performance rights, and 

as such, the valuation of the performance rights have been expensed in full on the grant date in the consolidated statement 

of profit or loss and other comprehensive income in accordance with AASB 2. 

 

Table 3: Remuneration for the financial year ended 30 June 2024 

 

 Short Term  
Post-

Employment 
 Long Term   

2024 

Salary & 

Fees 

Annual 

Leave 
 

Super-

annuation 
 

Long 

service 

leave 

Share 

Based 

Payments  

Total 
Performance 

Related 

 $ $  $  $ $ $ % 

Alec Pismiris1 72,000 -  -  - - 72,000 - 

William Oliver2 36,000 -  -  - - 36,000 - 

Scott Deakin 32,432 -  3,568  - - 36,000 - 

 140,432 -  3,568  - - 144,000 - 
 

1 Payable to Lexicon Services Pty Ltd, a company which Mr Pismiris is a director and shareholder. 
2 Payable to Billandbry Consulting Pty Ltd, a company which Mr Oliver is a director and shareholder. 
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Share-based compensation 

Options 

There were no options issued to key management personnel during the financial year ended 30 June 2025 (2024: 

Nil). 

 

Shares 

There were no fully paid ordinary shares issued to key management personnel during the financial year ended 

30 June 2025 (2024: Nil). 

 

Performance Rights 

There were 4,500,000 performance rights issued to key management personnel during the financial year ended 

30 June 2025 (2024: Nil). 

 

Additional Disclosures Relating to Key Management Personnel 

Table 4: Share holdings of Key Management Personnel 
 

Name 

Held at the 

start of the 

year 

Purchased as 

part of a capital 

raising 

Acquired 

on market 

Other changes 

during the year 

Held at the end 

of the year 

Directors      

Alec Pismiris 411,750 454,5451 -  866,295 

William Oliver 175,000 90,9091 75,000  340,909 

Brendan Borg - 1,212,1211,2 615,688 - 1,827,809 

Scott Deakin 900,000 454,5451 - (1,354,545)3 - 

 1,486,750 2,212,120 690,688 (1,354,545) 3,035,013 
 

1 The Directors participated in the placement (tranche two) that settled on 3 February 2025, through the issue of 1,909,090 fully 

paid ordinary shares at $0.11 per share to raise $210,000 (refer to Note 10). At the time of when the placement was agreed, 

Mr Deakin was a Director of Company, and received the shares upon obtaining shareholder approval. 
2 Mr Borg supported the placement that took place on 11 April 2025 on the same terms for an additional $50,000. 303,030 fully 

paid ordinary shares at $0.165 per share were issued to Mr Borg on 30 May 2025, upon obtaining shareholder approval. 
3 Mr Deakin resigned as Non-executive director effective 3 December 2024. 

 

Table 5: Option holdings of Key Management Personnel 
 

Name 
Held at the start 

of the year 

Number 

granted 

during the 

year 

Purchased on-

market or as 

part of capital 

raising 

Other changes 

during the year  
Held at the end 

of the year2 

Directors      

Alec Pismiris 1,136,750 - - - 1,136,750 

William Oliver 525,000 - - - 525,000 

Brendan Borg - - - - - 

Scott Deakin 575,000 - - (575,000)1 - 

 2,236,750 - - (575,000) 1,661,750 
 

1 Mr Deakin resigned as Non-executive director effective 3 December 2024. 
2 The options held at the end of the year have vested and are exercisable. 
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Table 6: Performance rights holdings of Key Management Personnel 
 

Name 
Held at the start 

of the year 

Number 

granted during 

the year2 

Purchased on-

market or as 

part of capital 

raising 

Other changes 

during the year  

Held at the end 

of the year1 

Directors      

Alec Pismiris - 750,000 - - 750,000 

William Oliver - 750,000 - - 750,000 

Brendan Borg - 3,000,000 - - 3,000,000 

 - 4,500,000 - - 4,500,000 
 

1 The performance rights held at the end of the year are subject to vesting conditions which have not yet been met. 

 
2 On 30 May 2025, 4,500,000 performance rights expiring on 30 May 2028, were issued to the Directors as part of their Director’s 

remuneration package as an equity-based incentive. The performance rights are subject to vesting conditions over the life of 

the performance rights. There were no service conditions attached to these performance rights as such, the value of the 

performance rights was expensed in the consolidated statement of profit or loss and other comprehensive income. The fair 

value of the services could not be reliably measured and therefore, a barrier up-and-in trinomial pricing model with a Parisian 

barrier adjustment was used to determine the value of the performance rights issued. 

The vesting conditions are: 

• Class A: upon the Company’s shares achieving a volume weighted average price (VWAP) of at least $0.20 for 20 

consecutive trading days. 

• Class B: upon the Company’s shares achieving a volume weighted average price (VWAP) of at least $0.35 for 20 

consecutive trading days. 

• Class C: upon the Company’s shares achieving a volume weighted average price (VWAP) of at least $0.50 for 20 

consecutive trading days. 

 

Inputs have been detailed below: 

Input Director 

Performance Rights 

(Class A) 

Director  

Performance 

Rights (Class B) 

Director  

Performance 

Rights (Class C) 

Number of performance 

rights 

1,500,000 1,500,000 1,500,000 

Grant date 29 May 2025 29 May 2025 29 May 2025 

Expiry date (years) 30 May 2028 30 May 2028 30 May 2028 

Underlying share price $0.115 $0.115 $0.115 

Exercise price Nil Nil Nil 

Expected volatility1 95.04% 95.04% 95.04% 

Risk free rate 3.43% 3.43% 3.43% 

Dividend yield 0.00% 0.00% 0.00% 

Value per performance 

rights 

$0.0962 $0.0790 $0.0670 

Total fair value of 

performance rights 

$144,300 $118,500 $100,500 

Total expensed for the 

financial year end 30 June 

2025 

 

$144,300 $118,500 $100,500 

1 Expected volatility calculated using the historical volatility of the Company’s share price over the most recent period that is 

commensurate with the expected term of the equity instrument. 
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Loans to Key Management Personnel 

There were no loans to key management personnel during the financial year ended 30 June 2025 (2024: Nil). 

 

Other Transactions with Key Management Personnel and Their Related Parties 

Mr William Oliver, a director of the Company, is also an officer of Billandbry Consulting Pty Ltd, a company who 

provided project consultancy services and invoiced the Company $18,250 (2024: $22,247) for project 

consultancy services. As at 30 June 2025, there were no amounts owing to Billandbry Consulting Pty Ltd (2024: 

$1,750). 

 

Mr Brendan Borg, a director of the Company, is also an officer of Borg Geoscience Pty Ltd, a company who 

provided project consultancy services and invoiced the Company $25,750 (2024: $Nil) for project consultancy 

services. As at 30 June 2025, $5,409 (2024: $Nil) was owing to Borg Geoscience Pty Ltd. 

 

All transactions were made on normal commercial terms and conditions and at market rates. The shares that 

were issued to key management personnel during the year were issued as part of the normal shareholder 

transactions on the same terms and conditions to other shareholders. 
 

Additional Information 

The earnings of the consolidated entity for each year since incorporation to 30 June 2025 are summarised below: 

  2025 2024 2023 2022 

Other income $ 96,042 114,771 99,339 Nil 

Loss after income tax $ (1,666,732) (391,837) (653,843) (119,948) 

Share price at 30 June $ 0.10 0.160 0.165 - 

Basic loss per share 
cents per 

share 
(3.80) (1.10) (2.46) (1.98) 

 

During the year ended 30 June 2025, the Company did not utilise any remuneration consultants.  

 

At the 2024 Annual General Meeting (‘AGM’), 92.18% of the votes received supported the adoption of the 

remuneration report for the year ended 30 June 2024.  The Company did not receive any specific feedback at 

the AGM regarding its remuneration practices. 

 

[End of audited Remuneration Report] 
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Shares and Options 

 

The consolidated entity has 57,388,008 fully paid ordinary shares on issue as at 30 June 2025, and at the date of 

this report.  

 

Options on issue at the date of this report: 

 

Grant date Expiry date Quoted/Unquoted Exercise price Number 

4 November 2021 11 October 2026 Unquoted $0.40 4,461,750 

1 March 2022 11 October 2026 Unquoted $0.40 1,600,000 

7 October 2022 11 October 2026 Unquoted $0.40 6,500,000 

10 December 2024 31 January 2028 Unquoted $0.165 1,636,364 

11 April 2025 30 May 2028 Unquoted $0.2475 1,818,182 

    16,016,296 

 

 

Performance rights on issue at the date of this report: 

 

Grant date Expiry date Number 

29 May 2025 30 May 2028 4,500,000 

  4,500,000 

 

On 30 May 2025, 4,500,000 performance rights expiring on 30 May 2028, were issued to the Directors as part of 

their Director’s remuneration package as an equity-based incentive. The performance rights are subject to 

vesting conditions over the life of the performance rights. There were no service conditions attached to these 

performance rights as such, value of the performance rights was expensed in the consolidated statement of 

profit or loss and other comprehensive income. The fair value of the services could not be reliably measured 

and therefore, a barrier-up and in-trinomial pricing model with a Parisian barrier adjustment was used to 

determine the value of the performance rights issued. 

The vesting conditions are: 

• Class A: upon the Company’s shares achieving a volume weighted average price (VWAP) of at least 

$0.20 for 20 consecutive trading days. 

• Class B: upon the Company’s shares achieving a volume weighted average price (VWAP) of at least 

$0.35 for 20 consecutive trading days. 

• Class C: upon the Company’s shares achieving a volume weighted average price (VWAP) of at least 

$0.50 for 20 consecutive trading days. 

 

Shares Issued on the Exercise of Options 

 

There were no ordinary shares of Bubalus Resources Limited that were issued during the financial year and up to 

the date of this report on the exercise of options granted. 

 

Dividends 

 

No amounts have been paid or declared by way of dividend of the consolidated entity during the financial 

year and the directors do not recommend the payment of any dividend. 

 

Rounding of Amounts 

 

The consolidated entity is of a kind referred to in ASIC Corporations (Rounding in Financial/Directors’ Reports) 

Instrument 2016/191, relating to the ‘rounding off’ of amounts in the directors’ Report.  Amounts in the directors’ 

Report have been rounded off in accordance with that Class Order to the nearest dollar. 
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Indemnity and Insurance of Officers 

 

The consolidated entity has indemnified the directors and executives of the consolidated entity for costs 

incurred, in their capacity as a Director or executive, for which they may be held personally liable. 

 

During the financial year, the consolidated entity paid a premium in respect of a contract to insure the directors 

or executives of the consolidated entity against a liability to the extent permitted by the Corporations Act 2001. 

The contract of insurance prohibits disclosure of the nature of liability and the amount of the premium. 

 

Indemnity and Insurance of Auditor 

 

The consolidated entity has not, during or since the end of the financial year, indemnified or agreed to indemnify 

the auditor of the consolidated entity against a liability incurred by the auditor. 

 

During the financial year, the consolidated entity has not paid a premium in respect of a contract to insure the 

auditor of the consolidated entity. 

 

Proceedings on Behalf of the Consolidated Entity 

 

No person has applied to the Court under section 237 of the Corporations Act 2001 for leave to bring 

proceedings on behalf of the consolidated entity, or to intervene in any proceedings to which the consolidated 

entity is a party for the purpose of taking responsibility on behalf of the consolidated entity for all or part of those 

proceedings. 

 

Officers of the Consolidated Entity Who are Former Partners of Pitcher Partners 

 

There are no officers of the consolidated entity who are former partners of Pitcher Partners BA&A Pty Limited or 

related entities. 

 

Auditor 

 

Pitcher Partners BA&A Pty Ltd continues in office in accordance with section 327 of the Corporations Act 2001. 

 

Non-Audit Services 

 

No amounts were paid or payable to the auditor for non-audit services provided during the year ended 30 June 

2025. 

 

Auditor's Independence Declaration 

 

A copy of the auditor's independence declaration as required under section 307C of the Corporations Act 2001 

is set out immediately after this directors' report.  

 
 

The directors’ report is signed in accordance with a resolution of the Board of directors, pursuant to section 

298(2)(a) of the Corporations Act 2001. 

  

 

 

 

Alec Pismiris 

Executive Chairman 

 

26 September 2025 

Perth 
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AUDITOR’S INDEPENDENCE DECLARATION 
TO THE DIRECTORS OF BUBALUS RESOURCES LIMITED AND ITS CONTROLLED ENTITIES 

 

  

In accordance with section 307C of the Corporations Act 2001, I declare to the best of my knowledge 
and belief in relation to the audit of the financial report of Bubalus Resources Limited and its controlled 
entities for the year ended 30 June 2025, there have been: 

• no contraventions of the auditor independence requirements of the Corporations Act 2001 in 
relation to the audit; and 

• no contraventions of the ethical requirements of the Accounting Professional and Ethical 
Standards Board’s APES 110 Code of Ethics for Professional Accountants (including 
Independence Standards) in relation to the audit. 

This declaration is in respect of Bubalus Resources Limited and the entities it controlled during the 
year. 
  
 
  
PITCHER PARTNERS BA&A PTY LTD 
 
 
 
 
 
PAUL MULLIGAN  
Executive Director 
Perth, 26 September 2025 

Adelaide  |  Brisbane  |  Melbourne  |  Newcastle  |  Perth  |  Sydney

Pitcher Partners is an association of independent firms.
Pitcher Partners is a member of the global network of Baker Tilly International Limited, the members 

of which are separate and independent legal entities.
pitcher.com.au .

Pitcher Partners BA&A Pty Ltd
An independent Western Australian Company ABN 76 601 361 095. 
Level 11, 12-14 The Esplanade, Perth WA 6000
Registered Audit Company Number 467435.
Liability limited by a scheme under Professional Standards Legislation.
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  Consolidated 

 

 

 30 June  

2025 

30 June  

2024 

 Note $ $ 

Interest income  96,042 114,771 

    

Administration and corporate expenses  (96,945) (67,771) 

Audit fees 15 (42,384) (34,718) 

Consulting and accounting services  (239,725) (187,423) 

Director’s fees  (166,797) (140,432) 

Due diligence fees  (14,844) - 

Exclusivity fees 8 (527,900) - 

Investor relations  (130,663) (42,159) 

Legal fees  (119,952) (27,244) 

Non-capital exploration expenditure 7 (9,884) (6,861) 

Share-based payments 12 (413,680) - 

Loss before income tax  (1,666,732) (391,837) 

Income tax expense 4 - - 

Loss after tax for the year attributable to members of the 

parent  (1,666,732) (391,837) 

Other comprehensive income  - - 

Total comprehensive loss for the year attributable to members 

of the parent  (1,666,732) (391,837) 

    

    

    

Loss per share    

Basic and diluted loss per share (cents) 20 (3.80) (1.10) 

 

 

   

 

 

 

 

 

The above consolidated statement of profit or loss and other comprehensive income should be read in 

conjunction with the accompanying notes. 
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  Consolidated 

  30 June  

2025 

30 June  

2024 

 Note $ $ 

ASSETS    

Current assets    

Cash and cash equivalents 5 3,248,570 2,898,321 

Other receivables 6 92,396 44,770 

Total current assets  3,340,966 2,943,091 

    

Non-current assets    

Exploration and evaluation expenditure 7 2,779,415 1,770,315 

Total non-current assets  2,779,415 1,770,315 

    

Total assets  6,120,381 4,713,406 

    

LIABILITIES    

Current liabilities    

Trade and other payables  9 122,421 86,268 

Total current liabilities  122,421 86,268 

    

Total liabilities  122,421 86,268 

    

Net assets  5,997,960 4,627,138 

    

EQUITY    

Issued capital  10 7,427,514 5,127,166 

Reserves 11 1,402,806 665,600 

Accumulated losses  (2,832,360) (1,165,628) 

Total equity  5,997,960 4,627,138 

 

 

 

  

 

The above consolidated statement of financial position should be read in conjunction with the accompanying 

notes.
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The above consolidated statement of changes in equity should be read in conjunction with the 

accompanying notes. 

 Issued Capital Reserves 

Accumulated 

Losses Total 

Consolidated $ $ $ $ 

 

Balance at 1 July 2023 4,754,188 665,600 (773,791) 4,645,997 

Loss after income tax for the year - - (391,837) (391,837) 

Total comprehensive loss for the year  - - (391,837) (391,837) 

     

Transactions with owners in their capacity as owners 

Share issue  379,500 - - 379,500 

Share issue costs  (6,522) - - (6,522) 

Balance at 30 June 2024 5,127,166 665,600 (1,165,628) 4,627,138 

 Issued Capital Reserves 

Accumulated 

Losses Total 

Consolidated $ $ $ $ 

 

Balance at 1 July 2024 5,127,166 665,600 (1,165,628) 4,627,138 

Loss after income tax for the year - - (1,666,732) (1,666,732) 

Total comprehensive loss for the year  - - (1,666,732) (1,666,732) 

     

Transactions with owners in their capacity as owners 

Share issue  2,878,280 - - 2,878,280 

Share issue costs  (577,932) 373,906 - (204,026) 

Share based payments - 363,300 - 10,598 

Balance at 30 June 2025 7,427,514 1,402,806 (2,832,360) 5,997,960 F
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  Consolidated 

  30 June  

2025 

30 June  

2024 

 Not

e 

$ $ 

Cash flows from operating activities    

Payments to suppliers and employees   (803,818) (498,520) 

Payments for exploration and evaluation  (212,418) (6,861) 

Interest received  94,285 173,843 

Net cash outflow from operating activities 5 (921,951) (331,538) 

 

Cash flows from investing activities 
   

Payments for exploration and evaluation expenditure  (866,212) (565,909) 

Payments for acquisition of exploration and evaluation assets  - (88,766) 

Payments for option to acquire exploration and evaluation assets  (100,000) - 

Net cash outflow from investing activities  (966,212) (654,675) 

 

Cash flows from financing activities 
   

Proceeds from issue of shares  2,450,000 - 

Capital raising costs  (211,588) (6,522) 

Net cash inflow/(outflow) from financing activities  2,238,412 (6,522) 

    

Net increase/(decrease) in cash held  350,249 (992,735) 

Cash at the beginning of the year  2,898,321 3,891,056 

Cash at the end of the year 5 3,248,570 2,898,321 

    

 

 

 

 

 

The above consolidated statement of cash flows should be read in conjunction with the accompanying notes.
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1. Material accounting policy information  

  

Corporate information  

 

Bubalus Resources Limited (the Company) is a public listed company and is a for-profit entity for financial 

reporting purposes under Australian Accounting Standards. Its registered office and principal place of 

business is Level 2,  

22 Mount Street, Perth WA 6000. 

 

The financial report covers the Company and its controlled entities (the consolidated entity).  

 

The accounting policies that are material to the consolidated entity are set out below. The accounting 

policies adopted are consistent with those of the previous financial year, unless otherwise stated. 

 

The consolidated financial report was approved by the Directors on 26 September 2025.  

 

Basis of preparation 

 

These general purpose financial statements have been prepared in accordance with Australian 

Accounting Standards and Interpretations issued by the Australian Accounting Standards Board ('AASB') 

and the Corporations Act 2001, as appropriate for for-profit oriented entities.  

 

Compliance with International Financial Reporting Standards 

These financial statements also comply with International Financial Reporting Standards as issued by the 

International Accounting Standards Board ('IASB'). 

 

Functional currency and presentation currency 

The financial statements are presented in Australian dollars which is the consolidated entity’s functional 

and presentation currency. 

 

Rounding of amounts 

In accordance with ASIC Corporations (Rounding in Financial/Directors’ Reports) Instrument 2016/191, the 

amounts in the financial report have been rounded to the nearest one thousand dollars, or in certain cases, 

to the nearest dollar (where indicated). 

 

Historical cost convention 

The financial statements have been prepared under the historical cost convention, except for, where 

applicable, the revaluation of certain non-current assets and financial instruments. 

 

Critical accounting estimates 

The preparation of the financial statements requires the use of certain critical accounting estimates. It also 

requires management to exercise its judgement in the process of applying the consolidated entity's 

accounting policies. The areas involving a higher degree of judgement or complexity, or areas where 

assumptions and estimates are significant to the financial statements, are disclosed in Note 2. 

 

Going concern 

The financial report has been prepared on a going concern basis, which contemplates continuity of normal 

business activities and the realisation of assets and the settlement of liabilities in the ordinary course of 

business. 
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a) Parent entity information 

 

In accordance with the Corporations Act 2001, these financial statements present the results of the 

consolidated entity only. Supplementary information about the parent entity is disclosed in Note 19. 

 

b) Principles of consolidation 

 

The financial report incorporates the assets and liabilities of all subsidiaries of the consolidated entity as at 

30 June 2025 and the results of all subsidiaries for the year then ended.   

 

c) Interest income 

 

Interest revenue is recognised as interest accrues using the effective interest method.  

 

d) Exploration and evaluation 

 

Exploration and evaluation expenditures in relation to each separate area of interest are recognised as an 

exploration and evaluation asset in the year in which they are incurred where the following conditions are 

satisfied: 

 

(i) The rights to tenure of the area of interest are current; and 

(ii) At least one of the following conditions is also met: 

 

• The exploration and evaluation expenditures are expected to be recouped through successful 

development and exploration of the area of interest, or alternatively by its sale; or 

• Exploration and evaluation activities in the area of interest have not, at the reporting date, 

reached a stage which permits a reasonable assessment of the existence or otherwise of 

economically recoverable reserves, and active and significant operations in, or in relation to, 

the areas of interest is continuing.  

 

Exploration and evaluation assets are assessed for impairment when facts and circumstances suggest that 

the carrying amount of an exploration and evaluation asset may exceed its recoverable amount. The 

recoverable amount of the exploration and evaluation asset is estimated to determine the extent of the 

impairment loss (if any). Where an impairment loss subsequently reverses, the carrying amount of the asset 

is increased to the revised estimate of its recoverable amount, but only to the extent that the increased 

carrying amount does not exceed the carrying amount that would have been determined had not 

impairment loss been recognised for the asset in previous years.  Where a decision is made to proceed with 

development in respect of a particular areas of interest, the relevant exploration and evaluation asset is 

tested for impairment and the balance is then classified to development. 

 

e) Income tax 

 

Income tax expense is the tax payable on the consolidated entity’s taxable income for the financial year 

based on the applicable income tax rate adjusted by changes in deferred tax assets and liabilities. 

 

Deferred tax assets and liabilities are recognised for temporary differences at the applicable tax rates that 

will apply when the assets are expected to be recovered or liabilities are expected to be settled. 

 

Deferred tax assets are recognised for deductible temporary differences and unused tax losses to the 

extent that future taxable profit will be available against which the deductible temporary differences and 

unused tax losses can be utilised. 

 

The consolidated entity has applied the exception to recognising and disclosing information about 

deferred tax assets and liabilities relating to Pillar Two income taxes.  
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Accordingly, the consolidated has not recognised, or disclosed information about, deferred tax assets and 

liabilities relating to Pillar Two income taxes. 

 

Tax consolidation 

 

The Company and its wholly owned Australian resident entities have formed a tax-consolidated entity with 

effect from 7 October 2022 and are therefore taxed as a single entity from that date. The head entity within 

the tax-consolidated entity is Bubalus Resources Limited. The head entity and each subsidiary in the tax 

consolidated group continue to account for their own current and deferred tax amounts. The tax 

consolidated group has applied the 'separate taxpayer within consolidated entity' approach in 

determining the appropriate amount of taxes to allocate to members of the tax consolidated group. 

 

f) Cash and cash equivalents 

 

Cash and cash equivalents include cash on hand and short-term deposits with an original maturity of three 

months or less.  

 

g) Other receivables 

 

Other receivables are initially recognised at fair value and subsequently carried at amortised cost less an 

allowance for impairment.  Refer also Financial Instruments. 

 

h) Trade and other payables 

 

Trade payables and other payables are initially recognised at fair value and are subsequently carried at 

amortised cost and represent liabilities for goods and services provided to the consolidated entity prior to 

the end of the financial year that are unpaid. 

 

i) Share based payment transactions 

 

Equity-settled share-based payments to employees and others providing similar services are measured at 

the fair value of the equity instruments at the grant date. 

 

The fair value determined at the grant date of the equity-settled share-based payments is expensed on a 

straight-line basis over the vesting period, based on the consolidated entity’s estimate of shares that will 

eventually vest, with a corresponding increase in equity. At the end of each reporting period, the 

consolidated entity revises its estimate of the number of equity instruments expected to vest. The impact of 

the revision of the original estimates, if any, is recognised in profit or loss such that the cumulative expense 

reflects the revised estimate, with a corresponding adjustment to the equity-settled employee benefits 

reserve. 

 

Equity-settled share-based payment transactions with other parties are measured at the fair value of the 

goods and services received, except where the fair value cannot be estimated reliably, in which case they 

are measured at the fair value of the equity instruments granted. 

 

j) Financial instruments 

 

Financial assets 

Financial assets are measured at either amortised cost or fair value on the basis of the consolidated entity’s 

business model for managing the financial asset and the contractual cash flow characteristics of the 

financial asset. 
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k) New accounting standards and interpretations  

 

The consolidated entity has adopted all of the new and revised Accounting Standards and Interpretations 

issued by the Australian Accounting Standards Board that are mandatory for the current reporting financial 

year. The adoption of these new and revised Accounting Standards and Interpretations has not resulted in 

a significant or material change to the consolidated entity’s accounting policies.   

 

Any new, revised or amending Accounting Standards or Interpretations that are not yet mandatory have 

not been early adopted and are not expected to have a material impact on the consolidated entity. 

 

 

2. Critical accounting judgments, estimates and assumptions.  

 

The preparation of the financial statements requires management to make judgments, estimates and 

assumptions that affect the application of accounting policies and the reported amounts of assets, 

liabilities, income and expense. Actual results may differ from these estimates. 

 

Exploration and evaluation expenditure 

The application of the consolidated entity’s accounting policy for exploration and evaluation expenditure 

requires judgement to determine whether future economic benefits are likely from either future exploitation 

or sale, or whether activities have not reached a stage that permits a reasonable assessment of the 

existence of reserves.  

 

In addition to applying judgement to determine whether future economic benefits are likely to arise from 

the consolidated entity’s exploration and evaluation assets or whether activities have not reached a stage 

that permits a reasonable assessment of the existence of reserves, the consolidated entity has to apply a 

number of estimates and assumptions. Refer to Note 7. 

 

Share based payment transactions 

The consolidated entity measures the cost of equity-settled transactions with suppliers and employees with 

reference to the fair value of goods or services received. If the fair value of goods or services received is 

unable to be determined, such transactions are measured with reference to the fair value of the equity 

instruments at the date at which they are granted. The fair value is determined by using an appropriate fair 

value pricing model taking into account the terms and conditions upon which the instruments were 

granted. The accounting estimates and assumptions relating to equity-settled share based payments 

would have no impact on the carrying amounts of assets and liabilities within the next annual reporting 

period but may impact profit or loss and equity. Refer to Note 12. 

 

Recovery of deferred tax assets 

Deferred tax assets are recognised for deductible temporary differences only if the consolidated entity 

considers it probable that future taxable amounts will be available to utilise those temporary differences 

and losses. Refer to Note 4. 
  

F
or

 p
er

so
na

l u
se

 o
nl

y



BUBALUS RESOURCES LIMITED 

NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS 

FOR THE YEAR ENDED 30 JUNE 2025 
 

33 

3. Operating segments 

 

Operating segments are presented using the 'management approach', where the information presented 

is on the same basis as the internal reports provided to the Chief Operating Decision Makers ('CODM'). The 

CODM is responsible for the allocation of resources to operating segments and assessing their performance. 

 

The consolidated entity is organised into one operating segment based on the internal reports that are 

reviewed and used by the board of directors (chief operating decision makers) in assessing performance 

and determining the allocation of resources. 

 

The consolidated entity operates as a single segment which is mineral exploration and in a single 

geographical location which is Australia. 

 
 
4. Income tax expense 

 
 Consolidated 

 2025 2024 

 $ $ 

a) Reconciliation of income tax expense prima facie tax payable   

Loss before income tax (1,666,732) (391,837) 

Prima facie income tax at 30% (2024: 30%) (500,020) (117,551) 

 

Tax effect amounts which are not deductible in calculating taxable 

income: 

  

Share based payments 124,104 - 

Legal expenses 8,465 - 

Non-capitalised exploration expenditure 2,965  

Tax effect of movement in unrecognised temporary differences (343,130) (170,187) 

Tax loss not recognised 707,616 287,738 

Income tax expense - - 

b) Tax losses   

Unused tax losses for which no deferred tax asset has been 

recognised 
4,498,888 2,140,172 

Potential tax benefit at 30% (2024: 30%) 1,349,666 642,052 

 
c) The directors estimate that at 30 June 2025 it has $4,498,888 (2024: $2,140,172) in revenue and capital 

tax losses carried forward and not brought to account. 

 

The benefit of these tax losses will only be obtained if: 

i. the consolidated entity derives income, sufficient to absorb tax losses; and 

ii. there is no change to legislation to adversely affect the consolidated entity in realising the 

benefit from the deduction of losses. 
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5. Cash and cash equivalents 

 

 Consolidated 

 2025 2024 

 $ $ 

Cash and cash equivalents in the consolidated statement of 

financial position and statement of cash flows 
  

Cash at bank and on hand 688,695 648,321 

Short-term deposits 2,559,875 2,250,000 

 3,248,570 2,898,321 

 
 

 Consolidated 

 2025 2024 

 $ $ 

Reconciliation of profit after income tax to the net cash flow from 

operating activities 
  

Loss after income tax (1,666,732) (391,837) 

Adjustments for:   

Share based payments 413,680 - 

Non-capital exploration expenditure - - 

Exclusivity fee shares paid in shares 377,900 - 

   

Changes in net assets and liabilities:   

Receivables (50,044) 52,455 

Payables 3,245 7,844 

Net cash outflows from operating activities (921,951) (331,538) 

 

Non-cash investing and financing activities 

 

As disclosed in Note 12, options were issued to a broker in lieu of cash for capital raising services provided, 

with a fair value of $141,130. 

 

 

6. Other receivables 

 

 Consolidated 

 2025 2024 

 $ $ 

GST receivable 64,042 22,783 

Prepayments 13,282 8,672 

Other debtors 15,072 13,315 

 92,396 44,770 
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7. Exploration and evaluation expenditure 

 

 Consolidated 

 2025 2024 

 $ $ 

Exploration and evaluation – at cost 2,779,415 1,770,315 

 2,779,415 1,770,315 

 

Reconciliations 

Reconciliations of the written down values at the beginning and end of the current financial year is set out 

below: 

 

 Consolidated 

 2025 2024 

 $ $ 

Opening balance 1,770,315 785,253 

Acquisition of Yinnietharra Project - 468,266 

Expenditure incurred during the year 918,984 523,657 

Option payments to vendors (Note 8) 100,000 - 

Non-capital exploration expenditure  (9,884) (6,861) 

Closing balance 2,779,415 1,770,315 

 

The consolidated entity holds a total of 12 tenements (Amadeus, Coomarie, Nolans East, Pargee and 

Yinnietharra Projects) located in the Northern Territory and Western Australia. On 28 November 2024, the 

Company entered into a binding heads of agreement with Syndicate Minerals Pty Ltd (Vendor), pursuant 

to which the Company was granted an exclusive and binding option to acquire 100% of the 5 tenements 

that form the Victorian Gold Project. On 24 March 2025, the Company entered into a binding heads of 

agreement with Providence Gold and Minerals Pty Ltd (Vendor), pursuant to which the Company was 

granted an exclusive and binding option to acquire 100% of the three tenements that form the Avon Plains 

Gold Project (Refer to Note 8). 

 
8. Option to acquire tenements 

 

Victorian Gold Project 

On 28 November 2024, the Company entered into a binding heads of agreement with Syndicate Minerals 

Pty Ltd (Vendor), pursuant to which the Company was granted an exclusive and binding option to acquire 

100% of the five tenements that form the Victorian Gold Project.  

 

In consideration for the grant of an exclusive option, the Company paid $100,000 in cash to the Vendor 

and issued 2,290,000 fully paid ordinary shares at $0.11 per share (fair value of $251,900) on 31 January 2025, 

following shareholder approval (together, the ‘Exclusivity fee’).  

 

The Exclusivity fee, totalling $351,900, has been recognised as an expense in the consolidated statement 

of profit or loss and other comprehensive income for the financial year ended 30 June 2025. 

 

The Company may exercise the Option during the period of 48 months after execution date through the 

completion of five payments on or before their respective anniversary dates. During the financial year, the 

Company paid the first option payment of $100,000 and has been recognised as capitalised as exploration 

and evaluation expenditure in the statement of financial position. 
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Avon Plains Gold Project 

On 24 March 2025, the Company entered into a binding heads of agreement with Providence Gold and 

Minerals Pty Ltd (Vendor), pursuant to which the Company was granted an exclusive and binding option 

to acquire 100% of the three tenements that form the Avon Plains Gold Project.  

 

In consideration for the grant of an exclusive option, the Company paid $50,000 in cash to the Vendor and 

issued 700,000 fully paid ordinary shares at $0.18 per share (fair value of $126,000) on 30 May 2025, following 

shareholder approval (together, the ‘Exclusivity fee’). 

 

The Exclusivity fee, totalling $176,000, has been recognised as an expense in the consolidated statement 

of profit or loss and other comprehensive income for the financial year ended 30 June 2025. 

 

The Company may exercise the Option during the period of 48 months after execution date by the 

completion of five payments on or before their respective anniversary dates. During the financial year, the 

Company had not paid any option payments. The first option payment is not due until September 2025 (6 

months from execution date). 

 

9. Trade and other payables 

 

 Consolidated 

 2025 2024 

 $ $ 

Trade creditors 87,760 59,686 

Accrued expenses 25,000 23,701 

Other creditors 9,661 2,881 

 122,421 86,268 

 

 

10. Issued capital 

 

 Consolidated 

 2025 2025 2024 2024 

 No. of Shares $ No. of Shares $ 

Ordinary shares – issued and fully paid 

 

57,388,008 7,427,514 

 

36,364,250 5,127,166 

 
 

Consolidated 
No. of 

shares 

Issue Price 

$ 
$ 

Movement in ordinary shares on issue    

Balance at beginning of year 1 July 2023 33,661,750  4,754,188 

Shares issued to vendors – 30 October 2023  2,350,000 0.1404 330,000 

Shares issued to facilitators – 30 October 2023  352,500 0.1404 49,500 

Transactions costs - - (6,522) 

On issue as at 30 June 2024 36,364,250  5,127,166 
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Consolidated 
No. of 

shares 

Issue Price 

$ 
$ 

Balance at beginning of year 1 July 2024 36,364,250  5,127,166 

Shares issued for placement (tranche one) – 31 January 20251 6,272,728 0.11 690,000 

Shares issued to facilitators – 31 January 2025 (Note 12) 
458,000 0.11 50,380 

Shares issued to vendors (exclusivity fee) – 31 January 2025 

(Note 8) 2,290,000 0.11 251,900 

Shares issued for placement (tranche two) – 3 February 20251 
1,909,090 0.11 210,000 

Shares issued for placement – 11 April 20252 
9,090,910 0.165 1,500,000 

Shares issued for placement – 30 May 20252 
303,030 0.165 50,000 

Shares issued to vendors (exclusivity fee) – 30 May 2025    

(Note 8) 700,000 0.18 126,000 

Transactions costs - - (577,932) 

On issue at 30 June 2025 57,388,008  7,427,514 

 
1 During the financial year, the Company successfully completed a placement to raise $900,000 (before 

costs) through the issue of 8,181,818 fully paid ordinary shares at an issue price of $0.11 per share 

(Placement). The placement was split into two tranches. Tranche one consisted of 6,272,728 fully paid 

ordinary shares at $0.11 per share was settled on 31 January 2025. Tranche two consisted of the Directors 

participation for a total of $210,000 (before costs) through the issue of 1,909,091 fully paid ordinary shares. 

Settlement of the shares to the Directors occurred on 3 February 2025, subsequent to obtaining 

shareholder approval at the Company’s General Meeting on 31 January 2025. 

2 During the financial year, the Company successfully completed a placement to raise $1,500,000 (before 

costs) through the issue of 9,090,910 fully paid ordinary shares at an issue price of $0.165 per share 

(Placement). Settlement of the placement took place on 11 April 2025. The Company’s Director, Mr 

Brendan Borg, supported the placement on the same terms for an additional $50,000 (before costs), 

through the issue of 303,030 fully paid ordinary shares at $0.165. Settlement of the shares to Mr Borg 

occurred on 30 May 2025, subsequent to obtaining shareholder approval at the Company’s General 

Meeting on 29 May 2025. 

 

Ordinary shares 

Ordinary shares entitle the holder to participate in dividends and the proceeds on the winding up of the 

Company in proportion to the number of and amounts paid on the shares held. The fully paid ordinary 

shares have no par value and the Company does not have a limited amount of authorised capital. 

Upon a poll each share shall have one vote and all substantive resolutions at shareholder meetings will be 

decided by a poll rather than a show of hands. 

 

 

Capital management 

The objectives of management when managing capital is to safeguard the consolidated entity’s ability to 

continue as a going concern, so that the consolidated entity maintains a strong capital base sufficient to 

maintain future exploration and development of its projects. 
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Due to the nature of the consolidated entity’s activities, being mineral exploration, the consolidated entity 

does not have ready access to credit facilities, with the primary source of funding being equity raisings. 

Therefore, the focus of the consolidated entity’s capital risk management is the current working capital 

position against the requirements of the consolidated entity to meet exploration programs and corporate 

overheads. The consolidated entity’s strategy is to ensure appropriate liquidity is maintained to meet 

anticipated operating requirements with a view of initiating appropriate capital raisings as required. 

The working capital position of the consolidated entity at 30 June 2025 is as follows: 

 Consolidated 

 2025 2024 

 $ $ 

Cash and cash equivalents 3,248,570 2,898,321 

Trade and other receivables 92,396 44,770 

Trade and other payables (122,421) (86,268) 

Working capital position 3,218,545 2,856,823 

 

 

11. Reserves 

 

 Consolidated 

 2025 2024 

 $ $ 

Reserves   

Share based payment reserve 1,402,806 665,600 

   

Balance at beginning of year 665,600 665,600 

Share based payments recognised as an expense  363,300 - 

Share based payment recognised as a share issue cost in equity 373,906 - 

Balance at end of year 1,402,806 665,600 

 

Share based payment reserve 

The share based payment reserve is used to recognise the fair value of equity instruments issued as share based 

payments to directors and employees. 

 

Set out below is a summary of the movement in options on issue during the 30 June 2025 financial year: 
 

Grant date Expiry date Exercise 

price  

$ 

Balance at 

the start of 

the year 

Granted Exercised Expired/ 

forfeited 

Balance at 

the end of 

the year 

4/11/2021 11/10/2026 0.401 4,461,750 - - - 4,461,750 

1/03/2022 11/10/2026 0.401 1,600,000 - - - 1,600,000 

7/10/2022 11/10/2026 0.40 4,500,000 - - - 4,500,000 

7/10/2022 11/10/2026 0.40 2,000,000 - - - 2,000,000 

10/12/2024 31/01/2028 0.165 - 1,636,364   1,636,364 

11/04/2025 30/05/2028 0.248 - 1,818,182   1,818,182 

   12,561,750 3,454,546 - - 16,016,296 

Weighted average exercise price 

     

0.40 0.21 - - 0.33 
 

1 These options were issued as free-attaching options upon the Company’s admission to the ASX and not as part 

of a share-based payment arrangement and as such the weighted average exercise price is not required. 

  

F
or

 p
er

so
na

l u
se

 o
nl

y



BUBALUS RESOURCES LIMITED 

NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS 

FOR THE YEAR ENDED 30 JUNE 2025 
 

39 

Set out below is a summary of the movement in options on issue during the 30 June 2024 financial year: 

 
Grant date Expiry date Exercise 

price  

$ 

Balance at 

the start of 

the year 

Granted Exercised Expired/ 

forfeited 

Balance at 

the end of 

the year 

4/11/2021 11/10/2026 0.40 4,461,750 - - - 4,461,750 

1/03/2022 11/10/2026 0.40 1,600,000 - - - 1,600,000 

7/10/2022 11/10/2026 0.40 4,500,000 - - - 4,500,000 

7/10/2022 11/10/2026 0.40 2,000,000 - - - 2,000,000 

   12,561,750 - - - 12,561,750 

Weighted average exercise price 

     

0.40 - - - 0.40 

 

Set out below are the options exercisable at the end of the 30 June 2025 financial year: 

 

Grant date Expiry date Exercise price  2025 2024 

  $ # # 

4/11/2021 11/10/2026 0.40 4,461,750 4,461,750 

1/03/2022 11/10/2026 0.40 1,600,000 1,600,000 

7/10/2022 11/10/2026 0.40 4,500,000 4,500,000 

7/10/2022 11/10/2026 0.40 2,000,000 2,000,000 

10/12/2024 31/01/2028 0.165 1,636,364 - 

11/04/2025 30/05/2028 0.248 1,818,182 - 

   16,016,296 12,561,750 

 

The weighted average remaining contractual life of options outstanding at the end of the financial year was 

1.6 years (2024: 2.3 years). 

 

Set out below is a summary of the movement in performance rights on issue during the financial year: 
 

Grant date Expiry date Exercise 

price  

$ 

Balance at 

the start of 

the year 

Granted Exercised Expired/ 

forfeited 

Balance at 

the end of 

the year 

29/05/2025 30/05/2028 Nil - 4,500,000 - - 4,500,000 

   - 4,500,000 - - 4,500,000 

 

There were no performance rights on issue during the 30 June 2024 financial year. 
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12. Share based payment transactions 

 

 Consolidated 

 2025 2024 

 $ $ 

458,000 fully paid ordinary shares – recognised as a share based 

payment expense (a) 
50,380 - 

4,500,000 performance rights – recognised as a share based 

payment expense (b) 
363,300 - 

1,636,364 options – recognised in equity (share issue costs) (c) 141,130  

1,818,182 options – recognised in equity (share issue costs) (d) 232,776 - 

 787,586 - 

 

a) Shares issued as upfront facilitation fee 

On 31 January 2025, the Company issued 458,000 fully paid ordinary shares at a deemed issue price of 

$0.11 per share to Inyati Capital Pty Ltd as a facilitation fee in consideration for introductory and facilitation 

services provided in relation to the Syndicate Minerals Pty Ltd binding heads of agreement, refer to Note 8.  

As the services were provided during the period, a share-based payment expense of $50,380 was 

recognised in the consolidated statement of profit or loss and other comprehensive income for the year 

ended 30 June 2025. 

b) Performance rights issued to Directors as an incentive 

On 30 May 2025, 4,500,000 performance rights expiring on 30 May 2028, were issued to the Directors as part 

of their Director’s remuneration package as an equity-based incentive. The performance rights are subject 

to vesting conditions over the life of the performance rights. There were no service conditions attached to 

these performance rights as such, the value of the performance rights was expensed in the consolidated 

statement of profit or loss and other comprehensive income. The fair value of the services could not be 

reliably measured and therefore, a barrier up-and-in trinomial pricing model with a Parisian barrier 

adjustment was used to determine the value of the performance rights issued. 

The vesting conditions are: 

• Class A: upon the Company’s shares achieving a volume weighted average price (VWAP) of at 

least $0.20 for 20 consecutive trading days. 

• Class B: upon the Company’s shares achieving a volume weighted average price (VWAP) of at 

least $0.35 for 20 consecutive trading days. 

• Class C: upon the Company’s shares achieving a volume weighted average price (VWAP) of at 

least $0.50 for 20 consecutive trading days. 
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Inputs have been detailed below: 

Input Director 

Performance 

Rights (Class A) 

Director  

Performance 

Rights (Class B) 

Director  

Performance 

Rights (Class C) 

Number of performance 

rights 

1,500,000 1,500,000 1,500,000 

Grant date 29 May 2025 29 May 2025 29 May 2025 

Expiry date (years) 30 May 2028 30 May 2028 30 May 2028 

Underlying share price $0.115 $0.115 $0.115 

Exercise price Nil Nil Nil 

Expected volatility1 95.04% 95.04% 95.04% 

Risk free rate 3.43% 3.43% 3.43% 

Dividend yield 0.00% 0.00% 0.00% 

Value per performance 

rights 

$0.0962 $0.0790 $0.0670 

Total fair value of 

performance rights 

$144,300 $118,500 $100,500 

Total expensed for the 

financial year end 30 

June 2025 

 

$144,300 $118,500 $100,500 

1 Expected volatility calculated using the historical volatility of the Company’s share price over the most recent period that is 

commensurate with the expected term of the equity instrument. 

c) Options issued as share issue costs 

On 31 January 2025, the Company issued 1,636,364 options exercisable at $0.165 with an expiry date of 31 

January 2028 to a broker in lieu of cash for capital raising services provided. The options vest immediately. 

The value of the options was recognised in equity as share issue costs. The fair value of the services could 

not be reliably measured and therefore, a Black-Scholes Option Pricing model was used to determine the 

value of the options issued. 

 

Inputs have been detailed below: 

Input Broker Options (16.5c) 

Number of options 1,636,364 

Grant date 10 December 2024 

Expiry date (years) 3.1 

Underlying share price $0.115 

Exercise price $0.165 

Expected volatility1 138.87% 

Risk free rate 3.71% 

Dividend yield 0.00% 

Value per option $0.0862 

Total fair value of options $141,130 

 
1 Expected volatility calculated using the historical volatility of the Company’s share price over the most recent period that is 

commensurate with the expected term of the equity instrument. 
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d) Options issued as share issue costs 

On 30 May 2025, the Company issued 1,818,182 options exercisable at $0.248 with an expiry date of 30 May 

2028 to a broker in lieu of cash for capital raising services provided. The options vest immediately. The value 

of the options was recognised in equity as share issue costs. The fair value of the services could not be 

reliably measured and therefore, a Black-Scholes Option Pricing model was used to determine the value 

of the options issued. 

 

Inputs have been detailed below: 

Input Broker Options (24.8c) 

Number of options 1,818,182 

Grant date 11 April 2025 

Expiry date (years) 3.1 

Underlying share price $0.17 

Exercise price $0.248 

Expected volatility1 140.56% 

Risk free rate 3.29% 

Dividend yield 0.00% 

Value per option $0.128 

Total fair value of options $232,776 

 
1 Expected volatility calculated using the historical volatility of the Company’s share price over the most recent period that is 

commensurate with the expected term of the equity instrument. 

 

 

13. Financial management risk 

 
The consolidated entity’s principal financial instruments comprise cash and short-term deposits.  The 

consolidated entity has various other financial assets and liabilities such as other receivables and payables, 

which arise directly from its operations. Such amounts are measured at their amortised cost. 

 

The consolidated entity’s activities expose it to a variety of financial risks including, credit risk liquidity risk 

and cash flow interest rate risk.  The consolidated entity is not exposed to price risk. 

 

Risk management is carried out by the Board of directors, who evaluate and agree upon risk management 

and objectives.   

 

Market risk 

 

Market risk is the risk that changes in market prices, such as foreign exchange rates, interest rates and equity 

prices will affect the consolidated entity’s income or the value of its holdings of financial instruments. The 

objective of market risk management is to manage and control market risk exposures within acceptable 

parameters, while optimising the return. 

 

Interest rate risks  

The consolidated entity is not materially exposed to interest rate risk. 

 

Credit risk 

 

The consolidated entity does not have significant concentrations of credit risk. Credit risk is managed by 

the Board of directors and arises from cash and cash equivalents as well as credit exposure including 

outstanding receivables. 

 

All cash balances are held in Australia and all of consolidated entity’s surplus funds are invested with A+ 

Rated financial institutions. 
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The maximum exposure to credit risk at reporting date is the carrying amount of the financial assets 

disclosed within the financial report. 

 

The credit quality of financial assets that are neither past due nor impaired can be assessed by reference 

to external credit ratings (if available) or to historical information about default rates. 

 

Liquidity risk 

 

Prudent liquidity risk management implies maintaining sufficient cash balances and access to equity 

funding. 

 

The consolidated entity’s exposure to the risk of changes in the market interest rates relate primarily to cash 

assets. 

 

The directors monitor the cash-burn rate of the consolidated entity on an on-going basis against budget 

and the maturity profiles of financial assets and liabilities to manage its liquidity risk. 

 

The financial liabilities the consolidated entity had a reporting date were other payables incurred in the 

normal course of the business. These were non-interest bearing and were due within the normal 30-60 days 

terms of creditor payments. 

 

Maturity analysis for financial liabilities 

The following table details the consolidated entity’s remaining contractual maturity for its financial 

instrument liabilities. The tables have been drawn up based on the undiscounted cash flows of financial 

liabilities based on the earliest date on which the financial liabilities are required to be paid.  

 

The tables include both interest and principal cash flows disclosed as remaining contractual maturities and 

therefore these totals may differ from their carrying amount in the statement of financial position. 

 

Consolidated 

 

Weighted 

average 

interest 

rate 

1 year or 

less 

Between 1 

and 2 

years 

Between 2 

and 5 

years 

Over 5 

years 

Remaining 

contractual 

maturities 

2025 % $ $ $ $ $ 

Non-derivatives       

Non-interest bearing       

Trade and other payables - 122,421 - - - 122,421 

Total non-derivatives  122,421 - - - 122,421 

 

 

Consolidated 

 

Weighted 

average 

interest 

rate 

1 year or 

less 

Between 1 

and 2 

years 

Between 

2 and 5 

years 

Over 5 

years 

Remaining 

contractual 

maturities 

2024 % $ $ $ $ $ 

Non-derivatives       

Non-interest bearing       

Trade and other payables - 86,268 - - - 86,268 

Total non-derivatives  86,268 - - - 86,268 

 

Fair value estimation 

 

The fair value of financial assets and financial liabilities must be estimated for recognition and measurement 

or for disclosure purposes. All financial assets and financial liabilities of the consolidated entity at the 

reporting date are recorded at amounts approximating their fair value. 
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14. Related parties 

 

Key management personnel compensation 

The key management personnel compensation included in employee benefits expense and share-based 

payments (Note 12) is as follows: 

 Consolidated 

 2025 2024 

 $ $ 

Short-term employee benefits 245,331 140,432 

Share based payments 363,300 - 

Post-employment benefits 1,577 3,568 

Total compensation 610,208 144,000 

 

Other transactions with related parties 

Mr William Oliver, a director of the Company, is also an officer of Billandbry Consulting Pty Ltd, a company 

who provided project consultancy services and invoiced the Company $18,250 (2024: $22,247) for project 

consultancy services. As at 30 June 2025, there were no amounts owing to Billandbry Consulting Pty Ltd 

(2024: $1,750). 

 

Mr Brendan Borg, a director of the Company, is also an officer of Borg Geoscience Pty Ltd, a company 

who provided project consultancy services and invoiced the Company $25,750 (2024: $Nil) for project 

consultancy services. As at 30 June 2025, $5,409 (2024: $Nil) was owing to Borg Geoscience Pty Ltd. 

 

All transactions were made on normal commercial terms and conditions and at market rates. The shares 

that were issued to key management personnel during the year were issued as part of the normal 

shareholder transactions on the same terms and conditions to other shareholders 

 

Loans to/from related parties 

There were no loans from related parties as at 30 June 2025 and 30 June 2024. 

 

15. Auditors’ remuneration 

 

 Consolidated 

 2025 2024 

 $ $ 

Auditing the financial report – Pitcher Partners BA&A Pty Limited 42,384 34,718 

Total 42,384 34,718 

 

 
16. Dividends 

 
The consolidated entity has not declared nor paid a dividend for the financial year. 

 
17. Contingent assets and liabilities 

 
Contingent assets 

The consolidated entity had no contingent assets as at 30 June 2025 and 30 June 2024. 

 

Contingent liabilities 

The consolidated entity had no contingent liabilities as at 30 June 2025 and 30 June 2024. 
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18. Commitments for expenditure 

 

Exploration and evaluation 

 

The consolidated entity is required to maintain current rights of tenure to tenements, which require outlays 

of expenditure in future financial years.  Under certain circumstances, these commitments are subject to 

the possibility of adjustment to the amount and/or timing of such obligations, however they are expected 

to be fulfilled in the normal course of operations. 

 

The consolidated entity has tenement expenditure commitments payable of: 

 Consolidated 

 2025 2024 

 $ $ 

Not later than 12 months 1,364,777 798,390 

Between 12 months and 5 years 5,649,508 3,907,708 

Total 7,014,285 4,706,098 

 

19. Parent entity information 

 

The following information is for the parent entity, Bubalus Resources Limited, at 30 June 2025. The information 

presented here has been prepared using the consistent accounting policies as detailed in the relevant 

notes of this report. 

 

 2025 2024 

 $ $ 

Current assets 3,644,351 3,246,477 

Non-current assets 2,476,030 1,466,929 

Total assets 6,120,381 4,713,406 

   

Current liabilities (122,421) (86,268) 

Non-current liabilities - - 

Total liabilities (122,421) (86,268) 

   

Issued capital 7,427,514 5,127,166 

Reserves 1,402,806 665,600 

Accumulated losses (2,832,360) (1,165,628) 

Total equity 5,997,960 4,627,138 

   

Loss for the year (1,664,564) (412,870) 

Other comprehensive loss  - - 

Total comprehensive loss of the parent (1,664,564) (412,870) 

 
For the year ended 30 June 2025, the parent entity has not entered into any guarantees, contingent 

liabilities and contractual commitments in relation to the debts of its subsidiaries.  
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Interest in subsidiaries 

The consolidated financial statements include the assets, liabilities and results of the following wholly-owned 

subsidiaries: 

Name 

Country of 

incorporation 

Consolidated entity 

company holding the 

investment 

Ownership interest 

2025 2024 

Jarrah Nia Exploration Pty Ltd Australia Bubalus Resources Limited 100% 100% 

Tomorrow Minerals Pty Ltd Australia Bubalus Resources Limited 100% 100% 

Bubalus Resources Limited is the parent entity of the consolidated entity. 

 
20. Loss per share 

 

 Consolidated 

 2025 2024 

 $ $ 

Loss after income tax (1,666,732) (391,837) 

 
 

 
Number of 

shares 

Number of 

shares 

Weighted average number of ordinary shares used in calculating 

basic and diluted loss per share 
43,869,230 35,463,417 

Basic and diluted loss per share (cents) (3.80) (1.10) 

 
Any potential ordinary shares (including options and performance rights) are not considered to be dilutive 

as the Company recognised a loss for the year ended, and are therefore excluded from the weighted 

average number of ordinary shares used in the calculation of diluted earnings/loss per share. 

 
 
21. Matters subsequent to the end of the financial year 

 

No matters or circumstances that have arisen since 30 June 2025 to the date of this report that have 

significantly affected, or may significantly affect the consolidated entity's operations, the results of those 

operations, or the consolidated entity's state of affairs in future financial years. 
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Bubalus Resources Limited is required by Australian Accounting Standards to prepare consolidated financial 

statements in relation to the Company and its controlled entities (the consolidated entity). In accordance with 

subsection 295(3A) of the Corporations Act 2001, the consolidated entity disclosure statement provides 

information about each entity that was part of the consolidated entity at the end of the financial year. 

Entity Name Entity Type Place formed/ Country 

of Incorporation 

Ownership 

interest 

Tax 

Residency 

Bubalus Resources Limited 

(the Company) 

Body Corporate Australia N/A Australia* 

Jarrah Nia Exploration Pty Ltd Body Corporate Australia 100% Australia* 

Tomorrow Minerals Pty Ltd Body Corporate Australia 100% Australia* 

* Bubalus Resources Limited (the 'head entity') and its wholly-owned Australian subsidiaries have formed an 

income tax consolidated group under the tax consolidation regime. At the end of the financial year, no entity 

within the consolidated entity was a trustee of a trust within the consolidated entity, a partner in a partnership 

within the consolidated entity or a participant in a joint venture with the consolidated entity. 
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In the directors' opinion: 

  

• the attached financial statements and notes comply with the Corporations Act 2001, the Accounting 

Standards, the Corporations Regulations 2001 and other mandatory professional reporting 

requirements; 

 

• the attached financial statements and notes comply with International Financial Reporting Standards 

as issued by the International Accounting Standards Board as described in Note 1 to the financial 

statements;  

 

• the attached financial statements and notes give a true and fair view of the consolidated entity’s 

financial position as at 30 June 2025 and of its performance for the financial year ended on that date;  

 

• there are reasonable grounds to believe that the consolidated entity will be able to pay its debts as 

and when they become due and payable; and 

 

• the information disclosed in the attached consolidated entity disclosure statement is true and correct.  

  

The directors have been given the declarations required by section 295A of the Corporations Act 2001. 

 

Signed in accordance with a resolution of Directors made pursuant to section 295(5)(a) of the Corporations Act 

2001. 

  

On behalf of the directors 

 

 

 

 

 

Alec Pismiris 

Executive Chairman 

 

26 September 2025 

Perth 
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BUBALUS RESOURCES LIMITED 
ABN 17 654 970 751 

INDEPENDENT AUDITOR’S REPORT 
TO THE MEMBERS OF  

BUBALUS RESOURCES LIMITED 

 

Report on the Audit of the Financial Report 

Opinion 

We have audited the financial report of Bubalus Resources Limited (“the Company”) and its controlled 
entities (“the Consolidated Entity”), which comprises the consolidated statement of financial position as 
at 30 June 2025, the consolidated statement of profit or loss and other comprehensive income, the 
consolidated statement of changes in equity and the consolidated statement of cash flows for the year 
then ended, and notes to the financial statements including material accounting policy information, the 
consolidated entity disclosure statement and the Directors’ declaration.  

In our opinion, the accompanying financial report of the Consolidated Entity is in accordance with the 
Corporations Act 2001, including:  

(a) giving a true and fair view of the Consolidated Entity’s financial position as at 30 June 2025 and
of its financial performance for the year then ended; and

(b) complying with Australian Accounting Standards and the Corporations Regulations 2001.

Basis for Opinion 

We conducted our audit in accordance with Australian Auditing Standards. Our responsibilities under 
those standards are further described in the Auditor’s Responsibilities for the Audit of the Financial 
Report section of our report. We are independent of the Consolidated Entity in accordance with the 
auditor independence requirements of the Corporations Act 2001 and the ethical requirements of the 
Accounting Professional and Ethical Standards Board’s APES 110 Code of Ethics for Professional 
Accountants (including Independence Standards) (“the Code”) that are relevant to our audit of the 
financial report in Australia. We have also fulfilled our other ethical responsibilities in accordance with 
the Code.  

We confirm that the independence declaration required by the Corporations Act 2001, which has been 
given to the directors of the Company, would be in the same terms if given to the directors as at the 
time of this auditor’s report.  

We believe that the audit evidence we have obtained is sufficient and appropriate to provide a basis 
for our opinion.  

Key Audit Matters 

Key audit matters are those matters that, in our professional judgement, were of most significance in 
our audit of the financial report of the current period. These matters were addressed in the context of 
our audit of the financial report as a whole, and in forming our opinion thereon, and we do not provide 
a separate opinion on these matters.  

Adelaide  |  Brisbane  |  Melbourne  |  Newcastle  |  Perth  |  Sydney

Pitcher Partners is an association of independent firms.
Pitcher Partners is a member of the global network of Baker Tilly International Limited, the members 

of which are separate and independent legal entities.
pitcher.com.au .

Pitcher Partners BA&A Pty Ltd
An independent Western Australian Company ABN 76 601 361 095. 
Level 11, 12-14 The Esplanade, Perth WA 6000
Registered Audit Company Number 467435.
Liability limited by a scheme under Professional Standards Legislation.
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Key Audit Matter How our audit addressed the key audit 
matter  

Valuation of exploration and evaluation 

(“E&E”) assets 

Refer to Note 1(d) and 7 of the Financial Report 

As at 30 June 2025, the consolidated entity’s E&E 

assets had a balance of $2,779,415 (30 June 

2024: $1,770,315). 

The carrying value of exploration and evaluation 

asset is assessed for impairment by the 

Consolidated Entity when facts and 

circumstances indicate that the E&E assets may 

exceed its recoverable amount. 

The determination as to whether there are any 

indicators to require the E&E assets to be 

assessed for impairment involves a number of 

judgments including but not limited to: 

• Whether the Consolidated Entity has 

tenure of the relevant area of interest; 

• Whether the consolidated entity has 

sufficient funds to meet the relevant area 

of interest minimum expenditure 

requirements; and  

• Whether there is sufficient information for 

a decision to be made that the relevant 

area of interest is not commercially 

viable. 

Given the size of the balance and the judgmental 

nature of the impairment indicator assessments 

associated with exploration and evaluation 

assets, we consider this is a key audit matter. 

Our procedures included, amongst others: 

Obtaining an understating of and evaluating the 

design and implementation of the processes and 

controls associated with the valuation of E&E 

assets, and those associated with the 

assessment of impairment indicators. 

Examining the Consolidated Entity’s right to 

explore in the relevant area of interest, which 

included obtaining and assessing supporting 

documentation.  We also considered the status 

of the exploration licences as it related to tenure. 

Assessing the Consolidated Entity’s intention to 

carry out significant exploration and evaluation 

activity in the relevant area of interest, including 

an assessment of the Consolidated Entity’s 

cash-flow forecast models, assessing the 

sufficiency of funding and discussions with 

senior management and directors as to the 

intentions and strategy of the Consolidated 

Entity. 

Testing a sample of transactions by sighting 

evidence of signed contracts, related invoices 

and comparing the amount recognised as 

deferred exploration and evaluation assets is in 

accordance with AASB 6 Exploration for and 

Evaluation of Mineral Resources. 

Reviewing management’s evaluation and 

judgement as to whether the exploration 

activities within each relevant area of interest 

have reached a stage where the commercial 

viability of extracting the resource could be 

determined. 

Assessing the adequacy of the disclosures 

included within the financial report. 

F
or

 p
er

so
na

l u
se

 o
nl

y

polgara
FreeText
50�



BUBALUS RESOURCES LIMITED 
ABN 17 654 970 751 

INDEPENDENT AUDITOR’S REPORT 
TO THE MEMBERS OF  

BUBALUS RESOURCES LIMITED 

Share-based payments 

Refer to Note 1(i) and 12 of the Financial Report 

Share-based payments represent $413,680 (30 

June 2024: $NIL) of the Consolidated Entity’s 

expenditure for the year ended 30 June 2025. 

Share-based payments must be recorded at fair 

value of the service provided, or in the absence of 

such, at the fair value of the underlying equity 

instrument granted.  

Under Australian Accounting Standards, equity 

settled awards are measured at fair value on the 

measurement date taking into consideration the 

probability of the vesting conditions (if any) 

attached. This amount is recognised as an 

expense either immediately if there are no vesting 

conditions, or over the vesting period if there are 

vesting conditions.   

In calculating the fair value of the underlying 

equity instrument there are key judgements that 

management must make, including but not limited 

to: 

• Estimating the likelihood that the equity

instrument will vest;

• Estimating expected future share price

volatility;

• Estimating expected dividend yield; and

• Risk-free rate of interest.

Due to the significance to the Consolidated 

Entity’s financial report and the level of judgment 

involved in determining the fair value of the 

underlying equity instrument granted, we consider 

the Consolidated Entity’s calculation of the share-

based payments expense to be a key audit 

matter. 

Our procedures included, amongst others: 

Obtaining an understanding of and evaluating 

the design and implementation of the 

processes and controls associated with the 

preparation of the valuation model used to 

assess the fair value of the underlying equity 

instrument granted.  

Assessing the key judgements used in the 

Consolidated Entity’s calculation including 

the share price of the underlying equity 

instrument including but not limited to: 

• Estimating the likelihood that the equity

instruments will vest;

• Estimating expected future share price

volatility;

• Estimating expected dividend yield; and

• Risk-free rate of interest.

Assessing the Consolidated Entity’s 

accounting policy as set out within Note 12 for 

consistency with the requirements of AASB 2 

Share-based Payments. 

Assessing the adequacy of the disclosures 

included within the financial report. 
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Other Information 

The directors are responsible for the other information. The other information comprises the information 
included in the Consolidated Entity’s report for the year ended 30 June 2025 but does not include the 
financial report and our auditor’s report thereon.  

Our opinion on the financial report does not cover the other information and accordingly we do not 
express any form of assurance conclusion thereon.  

In connection with our audit of the financial report, our responsibility is to read the other information 
and, in doing so, consider whether the other information is materially inconsistent with the financial 
report or our knowledge obtained in the audit or otherwise appears to be materially misstated.  

If, based on the work we have performed, we conclude that there is a material misstatement of this 
other information, we are required to report that fact. We have nothing to report in this regard.  

Responsibilities of the Directors for the Financial Report 

The directors of the consolidated entity are responsible for the preparation of: 

a) the financial report (other than the consolidated entity disclosure statement) that gives a true
and fair view in accordance with Australian Accounting Standards and the Corporations Act
2001; and

b) the consolidated entity disclosure statement that is true and correct in accordance with the
Corporations Act 2001; and

for such internal control as the Directors determine is necessary to enable the preparation of: 

(i) the financial report (other than the consolidated entity disclosure statement) that gives a true
and fair view and is free from material misstatement, whether due to fraud or error; and

(ii) the consolidated entity disclosure statement that is true and correct and is free of misstatement,
whether due to fraud or error.

In preparing the financial report, the directors are responsible for assessing the ability of the 
Consolidated Entity to continue as a going concern, disclosing, as applicable, matters related to going 
concern and using the going concern basis of accounting unless the directors either intend to liquidate 
the Consolidated Entity or to cease operations, or have no realistic alternative but to do so.  

Auditor’s Responsibilities for the Audit of the Financial Report 

Our objectives are to obtain reasonable assurance about whether the financial report as a whole is free 
from material misstatement, whether due to fraud or error, and to issue an auditor’s report that includes 
our opinion. Reasonable assurance is a high level of assurance but is not a guarantee that an audit 
conducted in accordance with the Australian Auditing Standards will always detect a material 
misstatement when it exists. Misstatements can arise from fraud or error and are considered material 
if, individually or in the aggregate, they could reasonably be expected to influence the economic 
decisions of users taken on the basis of this financial report.  
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As part of an audit in accordance with the Australian Auditing Standards, we exercise professional 
judgement and maintain professional scepticism throughout the audit. We also:  

• Identify and assess the risks of material misstatement of the financial report, whether due to fraud

or error, design and perform audit procedures responsive to those risks, and obtain audit evidence

that is sufficient and appropriate to provide a basis for our opinion. The risk of not detecting a material

misstatement resulting from fraud is higher than for one resulting from error, as fraud may involve

collusion, forgery, intentional omissions, misrepresentations, or the override of internal control.

• Obtain an understanding of internal control relevant to the audit in order to design audit procedures

that are appropriate in the circumstances, but not for the purpose of expressing an opinion on the

effectiveness of the Consolidated Entity’sinternal control.

• Evaluate the appropriateness of accounting policies used and the reasonableness of accounting

estimates and related disclosures made by the directors.

• Conclude on the appropriateness of the directors’ use of the going concern basis of accounting and,

based on the audit evidence obtained, whether a material uncertainty exists related to events or

conditions that may cast significant doubt on the Consolidated Entity’s ability to continue as a going

concern. If we conclude that a material uncertainty exists, we are required to draw attention in our

auditor’s report to the related disclosures in the financial report or, if such disclosures are inadequate,

to modify our opinion. Our conclusions are based on the audit evidence obtained up to the date of

our auditor’s report. However, future events or conditions may cause the consolidated entity to cease

to continue as a going concern.

• Evaluate the overall presentation, structure and content of the financial report, including the

disclosures, and whether the financial report represents the underlying transactions and events in a

manner that achieves fair presentation.

• Obtain sufficient appropriate audit evidence regarding the financial information of the entities or

business activities within the Consolidated Entity to express an opinion on the financial report. We

are responsible for the direction, supervision and performance of the Consolidated Entity audit. We

remain solely responsible for our audit opinion.

We communicate with the directors regarding, among other matters, the planned scope and timing of 
the audit and significant audit findings, including any significant deficiencies in internal control that we 
identify during our audit.  

We also provide the directors with a statement that we have complied with relevant ethical requirements 
regarding independence, and to communicate with them all relationships and other matters that may 
reasonably be thought to bear on our independence, and where applicable, actions taken to eliminate 
threats or safeguards applied.  

From the matters communicated with the directors, we determine those matters that were of most 
significance in the audit of the financial report of the current period and are therefore the key audit 
matters. We describe these matters in our auditor’s report unless law or regulation precludes public 
disclosure about the matter or when, in extremely rare circumstances, we determine that a matter 
should not be communicated in our report because the adverse consequences of doing so would 
reasonably be expected to outweigh the public interest benefits of such communication.  
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BUBALUS RESOURCES LIMITED 
ABN 17 654 970 751 

INDEPENDENT AUDITOR’S REPORT 
TO THE MEMBERS OF  

BUBALUS RESOURCES LIMITED 

Report on the Remuneration Report 

Opinion on the Remuneration Report 

We have audited the Remuneration Report included in pages 16 to 21 of the Directors’ report for the 
year ended 30 June 2025. In our opinion, the Remuneration Report of Bubalus Resources Limited, for 
the year ended 30 June 2025, complies with section 300A of the Corporations Act 2001. 

Responsibilities 

The directors of the Company are responsible for the preparation and presentation of the 
Remuneration Report in accordance with section 300A of the Corporations Act 2001. Our 
responsibility is to express an opinion on the Remuneration Report, based on our audit conducted in 
accordance with Australian Auditing Standards. 

PITCHER PARTNERS BA&A PTY LTD 

PAUL MULLIGAN 
Executive Director 
Perth, 26 September 2025 
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Additional information required by Australian Stock Exchange Ltd and not shown elsewhere in this report is as 

follows. The information is current as at 3 September 2025. 

 

(a) Corporate Governance Statement 

 

The Company’s 2025 Corporate Governance Statement has been released as a separate document and is 

located on our website at https://www.bubalusresources.com.au/our-company/corporate-governance/.  

 

(b) Distribution of equity securities 

Analysis of number of equity security holders by size of holding: 

 

Range Total Holders Units % of Issued Capital 

1 – 1,000 9 358 - 

1,001 – 5,000 57 200,470 0.35 

5,001 – 10,000 70 601,343 1.05 

10,001 – 100,000 251 10,174,768 17.73 

100,001 & Over 118 46,411,069 80.87 

Total 505 57,388,008 100.00 

 

Unmarketable Parcels 

Minimum $500.00 parcel at $0.135 per unit is 43 holders with 95,514 shares. 

 

(c)  Twenty Largest Shareholders 

The names of the twenty largest holders of quoted ordinary shares are: 

 

No. Name Units % of Units 

1 INYATI FUND PTY LTD <INYATI FUND NO2 UNIT A/C> 2,660,000 4.64 

2 SYNDICATE MINERALS PTY LTD 2,290,000 3.99 

3 MR BRENDAN JAMES BORG & MRS ERIN BELINDA BORG <BORG FAMILY SUPER FUND 

A/C> 

2,000,000 3.49 

4 GREENSEA INVESTMENTS PTY LTD 1,300,000 2.27 

5 MR ANDREW HUTTON CHRISTIE 1,300,000 2.27 

6 MR DAVID JAMES WALL <THE RESERVE A/C> 1,293,833 2.25 

7 J P MORGAN NOMINEES AUSTRALIA PTY LIMITED 1,275,000 2.22 

8 MR THOMAS EDWARD LANGLEY <LANGLEY MINERAL HOLDINGS A/C> 1,256,530 2.19 

9 OXLEY PROPERTY NOMINEES PTY LTD <OXLEY FAMILY A/C> 1,100,000 1.92 

10 SCINTILLA STRATEGIC INVESTMENTS LIMITED 1,000,000 1.74 

11 MGL CORP PTY LTD 950,000 1.66 

12 SUNSET CAPITAL MANAGEMENT PTY LTD <SUNSET SUPERFUND A/C> 900,000 1.57 

13 MR WILLIAM MAXWELL LANGLEY & MISS SACHA AYTON <CARINYA SUPER A/C> 852,612 1.49 

14 TEN BRICKS PTY LTD 739,546 1.29 

15 MANDOLIN NOMINEES PTY LTD <TJ COWCHER FAMILY A/C> 600,000 1.05 

16 MR MICHAEL JAMES BOND & MRS ALISHA LOUISE BOND <HENRY FLORENCE 

SUPERFUND A/C> 

550,000 0.96 

17 MELBOR PTY LTD <RJW FAMILY A/C> 550,000 0.96 

18 WELLSTAR HOLDINGS PTY LTD <WELLSTAR SF A/C> 546,789 0.95 

19 MEDSERV MEDICAL COURIERS PTY LTD <GALLAGHER SUPER FUND A/C> 540,909 0.94 

20 BT PORTFOLIO SERVICES LIMITED <WARRELL HOLDINGS S/F A/C> 500,000 0.87 

 Total 22,205,219 38.72 

 

(d) Voting Rights 

 

On a show of hands, holders of ordinary shares have one vote. On a poll, holders of fully paid ordinary shares 

have one vote per share, whilst holders of partly paid shares have such number of votes equivalent to the 

proportion paid up in respect of their shares.  

 

(e) The Number of Restricted Equity Securities / Securities Subject to Voluntary Escrow 

 

There are no restricted equity securities or securities subject to voluntary escrow. 
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(f) Unlisted Securities 

The following options are on issue: 

Details of Holders 
Number of 

Holders 

Exercise 

Price 
Expiry Date 

Number of Options 

Held 

Unlisted options 16 $0.40 11 October 2026 1,425,000 

Unlisted options 10 $0.40 11 October 2026 11,136,750 

Unlisted options 4 $0.165 31 January 2028 1,636,364 

Unlisted options 1 $0.2475 30 May 2028 1,818,182 

 

The following performance rights are one issue: 

Details of Holders 

Number of 

Holders 
Exercise 

Price 
Expiry Date 

Number of 

Performance Rights 

Held 

Performance rights 3 - 30 May 2028 4,500,000 

 

(g) Distribution of Option holders 

 

1,425,000 Unlisted options exercisable at $0.40, expiring 11 October 2026 

Range Total Holders Units 

% of Issued 

Capital 

1 – 1,000 - - - 

1,001 – 5,000 - - - 

5,001 – 10,000 - - - 

10,001 – 100,000 14 1,125,000 78.95 

100,001 & Over 2 300,000 21.05 

Total 16 1,425,000 100 

There are no holders of greater than 20% or more of these unlisted options. 

11,136,750  Unlisted options exercisable at $0.40, expiring 11 October 2026 

Range Total Holders Units 

% of Issued 

Capital 

1 – 1,000 - - - 

1,001 – 5,000 - - - 

5,001 – 10,000 - - - 

10,001 – 100,000 2 150,000 1.35 

100,001 & Over 8 10,986,750 98.65 

Total 16 11,136,750 100 

Holders of greater than 20% or more of these unlisted options are as follows: 

Inyati Fund Pty Ltd <Inyati Fund No2 Unit A/c>    5,200,000 47% 

Mr David James Wall <The Reserve A/c>      2,600,000             23% 

 

1,636,364  Unlisted options exercisable at $0.165, expiring 31 January 2028 

Range Total Holders Units 

% of Issued 

Capital 

1 – 1,000 - - - 

1,001 – 5,000 - - - 

5,001 – 10,000 - - - 

10,001 – 100,000 - - - 

100,001 & Over 4 1,636,364 100 

Total 4 1,636,364 100 

Holders of greater than 20% or more of these unlisted options are as follows: 

Carradale Investment Pty Ltd <Carradale Super A/c> 409,091      25% 

Mr Jack Thomas Johns <JTJ Investment A/c>    409,091      25% 

Mr David James Wall <The Reserve A/c        409,091      25% 

Wellstar Holdings Pty Ltd <Wellstar SF A/c>   409,091      25% 
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1,818,182  Unlisted options exercisable at $0.2475, expiring 30 May 2028 

Range Total Holders Units 

% of Issued 

Capital 

1 – 1,000 - - - 

1,001 – 5,000 - - - 

5,001 – 10,000 - - - 

10,001 – 100,000 - - - 

100,001 & Over 1 1,818,182 100 

Total 1 1,818,182 100 

Holders of greater than 20% or more of these unlisted options are as follows: 

Inyati Fund Pty Ltd <Inyati Fund No2 Unit A/c>       1,818,182              100% 

 

(h) Distribution of Performance Rights holders 

 

1,818,182  Unlisted options exercisable at $0.2475, expiring 30 May 2028 

Range Total Holders Units 

% of Issued 

Capital 

1 – 1,000 - - - 

1,001 – 5,000 - - - 

5,001 – 10,000 - - - 

10,001 – 100,000 - - - 

100,001 & Over 3 4,500,000 100 

Total 3 4,500,000 100 

Holders of greater than 20% or more of these unlisted options are as follows: 

Borg Geoscience Pty Ltd                                          3,000,000              67% 

 

(i) On Market Buy Back 

There is no current on market buy back of Bubalus Resources Limited shares. 
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(j) Schedule of Tenements 

 

Tenement 

ID 
Project Status Registered Holder(s) Interest  

EL32796 Amadeus Granted Tomorrow Minerals Pty Ltd1 100% 

EL32797 Amadeus Granted Tomorrow Minerals Pty Ltd1 100% 

EL32798 Amadeus Granted Tomorrow Minerals Pty Ltd1 100% 

EL32799 Amadeus Granted Tomorrow Minerals Pty Ltd1 100% 

EL32800 Amadeus Granted Tomorrow Minerals Pty Ltd1 100% 

EL32801 Amadeus Granted Tomorrow Minerals Pty Ltd1 100% 

EL32802 Amadeus Granted Tomorrow Minerals Pty Ltd1 100% 

EL32955 Coomarie Application Jarrah Nia Exploration Pty Ltd1 -  

EL32956 Coomarie Granted Jarrah Nia Exploration Pty Ltd1 100% 

EL33471 Coomarie Application Bubalus Resources Ltd -  

EL33472 Coomarie Application Bubalus Resources Ltd -  

EL32957 Nolans East Granted Jarrah Nia Exploration Pty Ltd1 100% 

E80/5741 Pargee Granted Jarrah Nia Exploration Pty Ltd1 100% 

E09/2724 Yinnietharra Granted Bubalus Resources Ltd 100% 

E09/2725 Yinnietharra Granted Bubalus Resources Ltd 100% 

EL007144 Crosbie Granted Syndicate Minerals Pty Ltd 2 - 

EL007261 Lockwood Granted Syndicate Minerals Pty Ltd 2 - 

EL007359 Whilsons Hill Granted Syndicate Minerals Pty Ltd 2 - 

EL007412 
Golden Rocks - 

Murrindindi 

Granted 
Syndicate Minerals Pty Ltd 2 - 

EL007450 Castleburn Granted Syndicate Minerals Pty Ltd 2 - 

EL007115 Avon Plains Granted Providence Gold and Minerals Pty Ltd 3 - 

EL007370 Navarre Granted Providence Gold and Minerals Pty Ltd 3 - 

EL007542 Landsborough Granted Providence Gold and Minerals Pty Ltd 3 - 
     

1 Tomorrow Minerals Pty Ltd and Jarrah Nia Exploration Pty Ltd are 100% owned subsidiaries of 

Bubalus Resources Limited. 

 
2 Syndicate Minerals Pty Ltd is not related to the Company. The Company entered into an Option 

Agreement to acquire 100% of the tenements, which was approved by shareholders at a general 

meeting on 31 January 2025. 

 
3 Providence Gold and Minerals Pty Ltd is not related to the Company. The Company entered into 

an Option Agreement to acquire 100% of the tenements, which is subject to shareholder approval 

at the Company’s next general meeting. 
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